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Global manufacturer of products consumed in the process of paper making

Xerium Technologies, Inc. is a leading global manufacturer and supplier of two types of consumable products
used primarily in the production of paper: clothing and roll covers. Our products are installed on paper-making
machines and play key roles in the process by which raw materials are converted into finished paper. A
fundamental characteristic of our products is that they wear down over time in the paper production process and
must be regularly replaced.

We employ our broad portfolio of patented and proprietary product and manufacturing technologies, as well as
our extensive industry experience, to provide our customers with tailored solutions designed to optimize the
performance of their equipment and reduce the costs of their operations. Our products are integral to paper
quality and paper-making machine efficiency, adding value to the overall paper-making process, and are the
result of a substantial investment in research and development and highly sophisticated manufacturing processes.

We have an extensive global footprint of 36 manufacturing facilities in 15 countries, strategically located in the
major paper-producing regions of North America, Europe, South America and Asia-Pacific, and have
approximately 3,900 employees worldwide. We market our products under a variety of brand names, primarily
using our direct sales force, to the paper industry’s leading producers.

History of Xerium

The Xerium business was founded in 1976 when Rerlum Histery
BTR, a UK-based industrial conglomerate, acquired 4
two businesses, roll cover manufacturer Stowe acquied
St Woodward
Woodward and rolls manufacturer Mount Hope. & Mmoo

While under BTR, the company grew rapidly.
Acquiring six other rolls manufacturers and three ‘
machine clothing manufacturers, BTR played a Huyok US,

acquired
Becker, Germany

leading role in the industry’s consolidation. acquired
Nokia, Finland
In 1992, the company merged its Huyck North Nortelos Brecs
America and Niagara-Lockport operations to form acquired
lrga, italy

Weavexx, its primary machine clothing brand in

North America. Clothing products made outside the S o
U.S. trade under the Huyck and Wangner brand

names. Xerium carries the same roll brands globally,

with Stowe Woodward making roll covers and - Boeltcher, 555#\:?13
Mount Hope manufacturing rolls.

acquired
Plastex, Germany

acquired
Wittler, Germany

. Investor group acquired
In 1999, the company was sold by Invensys, a the company from BTR

successor of BTR, to an investment group. Since

then, the company has continued its role in the

industry’s consolidation by acquiring an additional | ITreliborg, Seston
clothing business, Wangner, and three rolls

companies, Coldwater Covers, Robec and Trelleborg.

acquired
Wangner, Germany

acquired
Robec, Germany

Initiai Public Offering
The company completed its initial public offering in
May, 2005.

Acquisition of
Coldwater Covars, U.S.

Today, Xerium Technologies’ brands are highly
recognized and valued in the paper and board
industry.




2005 Financial and Operational Highlights
*  $582 million in net sales
*  $156 million of Adjusted EBITDA!
*  $55 million of net cash provided by operating activities
* Netloss of $2.1 million
* Net loss per share of $0.05
* 36 manufacturing facilities in 15 countries

* 3,900 employees

*  Completed series of significant cost reduction programs which commenced in 2002

»  IPO May 19, 2005

*  Quarterly dividends paid in 2005 following the IPO at $0.225 quarterly rate (first dividend pro-rated for

a partial quarter)

Certain Items Impacting 2005 Financial Results

(dollars in millions, except per share data)

Costs
Associated
IPO and with Legal
Related  Reorganization
2005 Transaction  of Brazilian  Restructuring
Amount Costs? Subsidiaries? Expenses??3

Net Income (Loss) ....................... $ (2.1) Impactedby » (25.7) 4.5) (10.2)
Net Income (Loss) Per Share ........ ... ... $(0.05) Impactedby »  (0.66) (0.12) (0.26)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities .. $ 547 Impactedby —»  (20.7) 3.7

TAdjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. The definition of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA for 2005 to
net cash provided by operating activities appear in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, which follows.

2The impact on Net Income (Loss) and Net Income (Loss) Per Share presented has been reduced to reflect the tax effect of the

applicable costs and expenses.

3Restructuring expenses for 2005 (before tax effects) were $12.0 million. As of the time of the mailing of this annual report, we expect

restructuring expenses in 2006 to be approximately $0.8 million.

2005 Net Sales by Region*

Asia-Pacific 1 /
12.6% ‘

! ]

. North America |
N 40.0% ‘

* by product destination
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2005 Net Sales by Segment

Clothing
65.8%




Clothing

Machine clothing products are highly engineered
synthetic textile belts that can be up to 450 feet
long and 40 feet wide. The clothing carries paper
web along the length of the paper-making machine
as it is processed. Clothing plays a significant role
in the forming, pressing and drying stages of paper
production. Since clothing products are
consistently in contact with the paper surface, they
also have a critical impact on the quality of paper
produced. We believe that we are among the top
three global manufacturers of clothing with
approximately a 15 percent global market share
based upon annual sales.

Our clothing brands include:

WEAVEXX

a Xerium company

HUYCK

a Xerium company

MOUNT HOPE’

Bowed Ro/l Technology  aXerium company

Rolls

Roll technology encompasses the manufacture,
covering and servicing of the large metal rolls (up to
35 feet long, 6 feet in diameter, and 70 tons) over
which clothing products are mounted and between
which the paper web travels as it goes from a wet
slurry to finished paper. As many as 100 rolls are
used in a paper-making machine. Xertum roll cover
products are designed to provide a surface with the
mechanical properties necessary to process the paper
sheet in a cost-effective manner that delivers the
sheet qualities desired by the paper producer. We
believe that we are the leading manufacturer and
supplier of roll covers with at least one third of the
global segment share based upon annual sales
(excluding China, where accurate data is not available).

Our roll technology brands include:

STOWE

WOODWARD

a Xerium company

WANGNER

a Xerium company

(ROBEC)

Xerium Manufacturing Locations and Licensees
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Paper Machine Clothing Technology

Xerium clothing products include:
* Forming Fabrics — receive wet paper slurry to form a sheet
* Dewatering Devices — extract water from the slurry
* Press Felts — carry paper through the pressing process

»  Dryer Fabrics — carry paper through the drying process

Xerium’s brands of clothing products are designed to withstand
extreme temperature and pressure conditions, and are the result
of considerable research and development and a sophisticated
manufacturing process. Since there is no standard size of
machine, clothing products are custom made to each paper-
making machine.

Clothing wears down over time and must be replaced regularly
in order for paper producers to sustain high quality paper output
and operate efficiently. Paper producers must typically replace
clothing every one to twelve months.

Paper-making machine using Xerium’s
Xerium paper machine clothing products include: clothing and roll cover products.

»  Weavexx, sold primarily in North America. Weavexx products include the Huytexx®, Titan®,
Avantexx®, and Vantage® family of forming fabrics; Huyperm®, Seamexx®, Optibond™, Axxial® and
Millennium™ press felts; Blue Maxx®, Exxtreme™, Soil Maxx™ and Ultracoil™ Dryer Fabrics.

» Huyck, sold mainly in Europe, Asia and South America. Huyck products include X-weave® press felts;
Huyspeed™, Huypin™ and Titan® dryer fabrics; Porotherm® fibre-cement felts; and Huydrain™,
Huycell™, Monogroove

™, Hydrogroove™, Stratacell™ and Huyseam™ dewatering felts.

™

+ Wangner, sold mainly in Europe, Asia and South America. Wangner products include Monoply™,
Duoply™, Trioply™ and Optiply™ forming fabrics and Masterdry™, Surfacedry™, Finedry™,
Espiralmesh™ and Thermodry™ dryer fabrics.




Roll Technology

Xerium roll products and services include:
* Roll Covers
*  Mechanical and Refurbishment Services

* Spreader Rolls

Xerium roll cover products are designed to withstand
extreme temperature and pressure conditions, and are
the result of considerable research and development
and a sophisticated manufacturing process. Like our
clothing products, our roll cover products are
customized to each individual paper-making machine.

Over time, roll covers wear down and must be replaced
regularly in order for paper producers to sustain high
quality paper output and operate efficiently. Roll
covers also require regular refurbishment, and
Xerium’s Stowe Woodward division provides

refurbishment services for previously installed roll A roll cover being refurbished at
covers. Roll covers require routine refurbishment every one of our facilities.
three-twelve months and replacement every two-five

years.

Mechanical services, including repair and rebuilding of rolls, are also an integral part of Stowe Woodward’s roll
services. Stowe Woodward provides inspection, overhaul and repair services for roll shells, bearings and
journals, housings, suction boxes and internal parts of rolls.

Papermakers rely on Xerium’s Stowe Woodward division to create roll coverings with the performance and
durability that improves sheet quality, increases productivity and lowers production costs. Stowe Woodward
utilizes proprietary technology to deliver rubber, polyurethane, ceramic and composite covers for demanding
applications.

Mount Hope and Robec, divisions of Xerium, manufacture spreader rolls, which flex to control the tension of the
clothing and paper web during manufacturing. Spreader rolls help to reduce wrinkles in the paper.

Xerium brands that manufacture roll products are:

» Stowe Woodward, sold mainly in North America, South America, Europe, and Asia. Stowe Woodward
products include press roll covers such as Aquawell®, Blue Steel™, ECLIPSE® I1, SuperPress™ XL and
SUPERWEAR™; wire and felt roll covers such as Black Diamond®, Dyna-X®, Tefrok®, and
WireSaver™; coater/sizing roll covers such as SUPERCOAT™ and SuperSize™ XL; calender roll covers
such as Titan HT™, IVORY XTREME™, and Jalon Yellow®; reel spool covers such as ReelTight™ and
POLYTRAC RS™ and the Stabilizer™ shoe press belt.

* Mount Hope, sold mainly in North America and South America. Mount Hope products include the
Fixed Bow Roll™, VARI-BOW® roll, MULTI-BOW™ roll, METROL™, GUARDIAN®, HTA (High
Temperature Application) Bowed Roll, MSEC (Manual Slack Edge Control) Roll, and Bowed Roll
Reconditioning services.

* Robec, sold mainly in Europe. Robec products include a line of bowed rolls used for sheet guiding,
wrinkle removal and web overall web management.




Technology is key to Xerium’s strategy

+ Focus on delivering *‘value through technology” to our customers by providing differentiated product
and service innovations designed to help our customers increase productivity and reduce costs, a key
focus in the paper and board industry.

* 138 patents issued between 2003 and 2005
* 161 patents applied for between 2003 and 2005

» Continue to serve the market globally and grow our presence in the developing regions of the
world, including Asia and South America, where we expect paper consumption and production to grow
the fastest.

» Continue to improve our market position by leveraging our technology, global presence and
advantage as an independent single source for both clothing and rolls products and services.

* Maintain a lean, low cost infrastructure by continuing to focus on productivity improvements and
expanding utilization of our existing low cost manufacturing base.

+ Selectively pursue strategic acquisitions and other growth opportunities that can enhance our
competitive position in the global paper and board industry and build on our reputation of delivering
value to our customers.

History of Product Development
Paper Machine Clothing
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Factors for future success

*  Recurring revenue stream driven primarily by global paper production volume, which is expected to grow
over the next 10 years*

»  High diversification by customer, geography and paper sector

*  Ability of products to produce cost savings and quality enhancements for customers
*  Proven ability to deliver technological innovation and customer value creation

*  Expected new product introductions

*  Recently completed cost reduction programs

*  Expected expansion in Asia and South America

+  Experienced management team, with shareholder-aligned incentives

Expected Paper Demand Growth through 2015*
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future
events or to our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other
factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of words such
as “may,” “could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,”
or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. You should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other
factors that are, in some cases, beyond our control and that could materially affect actual results, levels of
activity, performance, or achievements. Factors that could materially affect our actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements include the following items:

9 & 9 &¢ LN ER TS

* our revenues and profitability could be adversely affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
* our profitability would be reduced by a decline in the prices of our products;

* we may not be able to develop and market new products successfully or we may not be successful in
competing against new technologies developed by competitors;

* we are not required to make dividend payments on our common stock at any particular level or at all;
+ we are limited by our credit facility as to the amount of dividends we are permitted to pay;

» we may have insufficient cash to fund growth and unexpected cash needs after satisfying our debt
service obligations and paying dividends due to our high degree of leverage and significant debt service
obligations;

* we are subject to the risk of weaker economic conditions in the locations around the world where we
conduct business;

* we may be required to incur significant costs to reorganize our operations in response to market changes
in the paper industry;

« we are subject to the risk of terrorist attacks or an outbreak or escalation of any insurrection or armed
conflict involving the United States or any other country in which we conduct business, or any other
national or international calamity;

* we are subject to any future changes in government regulation; and

* we are subject to any changes in U.S. or foreign government policies, laws and practices regarding the
repatriation of funds or taxes.

Other factors that could materially affect actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements can
be found in our “Risk Factors” section in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from
what we projected. Any forward-looking statement you read in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflects our
current views with respect to future events and is subject to these and other risks, uncertainties, and assumptions
relating to our operations, results of operations, growth strategy, and liquidity. We assume no obligation to
publicly update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise.

LLIT3

All references in this Annual Report to “Xerium”, “we”, “our” and “‘us” means Xerium Technologies, Inc.




PART1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a leading global manufacturer and supplier of two categories of consumable products used primarily
in the production of paper—<lothing and roll covers. We market our products through the foliowing industry-
recognized brands:

Brand Product Category Geographic Region

Huyck Clothing Worldwide other than North America
Wangner Clothing Worldwide other than North America
Weavexx Clothing North America

Stowe Woodward Roll Covers Worldwide

Mount Hope Spreader Rolls Worldwide

Robec Spreader Rolls Europe

Our products are installed on paper-making machines and play key roles in the process by which raw
materials are converted into finished paper. A fundamental characteristic of our products is that they wear down
over time in the paper production process and must be regularly replaced. As of December 31, 2005, we have an
extensive global footprint of 35 manufacturing facilities in 15 countries, strategically located in the major paper-
producing regions of North America, Europe, South America and Asia-Pacific, and have approximately 3,800
employees worldwide. We acquired an additional manufacturing facility on February 2, 2006 as a result of our
acquisition of Coldwater Covers, Inc., for a total purchase price of approximately $6.8 million, subject to certain
adjustments. We market our products, primarily using our direct sales force, to the paper industry’s leading
producers. In 2005 we generated net sales of $582.4 million. The consumable nature of our products positions us
to make recurring sales to our customers, and accordingly a primary driver of demand for our products is the
volume of global paper production.

Paper-making machines utilize different processes and have different requirements depending on the design
of the machine, the raw materials used, the type of paper being made and the preferences of individual
production managers. We employ our broad portfolio of patented and proprietary product and manufacturing
technologies, as well as our extensive industry experience, to provide our customers with tailored solutions
designed to optimize the performance of their equipment and reduce the costs of their operations.

Our clothing products are highly engineered synthetic textile belts that transport paper as it is processed on a
paper-making machine. Clothing plays a significant role in the forming, pressing and drying stages of paper
production. Qur clothing segment represented 66% of our 2005 net sales.

Roll cover products cover the rolls on a paper-making machine, which are the large steel cylinders over
which clothing is mounted and between which the paper travels as it is processed. Our roll covers provide a
surface with the mechanical properties necessary to process the paper sheet in a cost-effective manner that
delivers the sheet qualities desired by the paper producer. We currently use over 500 compounds in our roll cover
manufacturing process. Our roll cover segment represented 34% of our 2005 net sales.

Our products are in constant contact with the paper stock during the manufacturing process through which
the stock is processed into finished paper. As a result, our products have a significant effect on paper quality and
the ability of a paper producer to differentiate its products, two factors which are increasingly important to paper
producers. In addition, while clothing and roll covers represent only approximately 2%, on average, of a paper
producer’s production costs, they can help a paper producer improve productivity and reduce overall costs. Our
clothing and roll covers facilitate the paper producer’s use of less expensive raw materials (including recycled
fiber), ability to run paper-making machines faster and with fewer interruptions, and ability to decrease the
amount of energy required in the expensive drying portion of the paper-making process. We have found that, in
certain cases, our products and services provide paper producers with cost savings that substantially offset the
costs of such products and services.




We estimate that there are approximately 7,700 paper-making machines worldwide, all of which require a
regular supply of clothing and roll covers. Clothing and roll covers must be replaced regularly to sustain high
quality paper output and operate efficiently. Roll covers also require regular refurbishment, a service that we
provide to our customers. Paper producers must typically replace clothing multiple times per year, replace roll
covers every two to five years and refurbish roll covers several times between each replacement.

We have a reputation for technological innovation in the paper-making industry. We pioneered a number of
technologies that have become industry standards. These include, in our clothing business, synthetic forming
fabrics (which replaced bronze wire technology), double-layer forming fabrics, laminated press felts and, most
recently, triple-layer forming fabrics. In our roll covers business, these include press release roll covers (which
replaced the granite products used previously), tissue machine press rolls, coater roll covers and the use of
nanotechnology and real time nip impression and nip sensing in our roll covers business. Our portfolio of
patented and proprietary product and manufacturing technologies differentiates our product offerings from others
in the market and allows us to deliver high value products and services to our customers. We currently have
approximately 220 domestic and foreign patents and approximately 180 pending patent applications. Our patents
and patent applications cover approximately 85 different inventions. We currently license certain of our patents
or technologies to some of our competitors, which we believe helps further demonstrate our technological
leadership in the industry. We believe that the technological sophistication of our products and the capital-
intensive nature of our business present significant challenges to any potential new competitors in our field.

Our business was organized in 1999 in connection with the acquisition of the paper technology group of
Invensys plc. We completed our initial public offering and a reorganization on May 19, 2005. In connection with
the offering, we entered into a $750 million credit facility agreement and repaid $752.5 million of principal and
interest on the previously existing senior bank debt, mezzanine bank debt and certain non-interest bearing
shareholder notes.

Business Strategy
The primary components of our business strategy are:

Focus on Delivering Value to Our Customers. We continually seek to improve our existing products and
introduce innovative new products and services in order to help our customers increase their productivity and
reduce their overall costs. Our objective is to deliver value to our customers that substantially offsets the cost of
our products and we rely on our strengths in technological innovation and our close working relationships with
our customers.

Enhance Profitability by Increasing Sales of More Technologically Advanced Products. We have sought to
maximize our margins and profitability by focusing our production and marketing efforts on higher value-added,
technologically advanced products such as press felts and forming fabrics. Although we intend to continue to
offer the full range of product offerings in order to meet our customers’ needs, we will continue to focus our
efforts on products and areas that we believe have the potential to yield the highest growth and profitability.

Expand Sales and Profitability by Expanding Our Multi-Product Marketing Strategy. We believe that paper
producers are currently seeking to work with a smaller number of capable suppliers. We utilize a multi-product
sales and marketing effort that leverages our technological expertise, global footprint and strong presence in both
the roll cover and clothing product areas to present an integrated package of products and services to our
customers.

Pursue Disciplined Expansion in High Growth Regions. In addition to maintaining our leadership position
in the more mature paper markets of North America and Western Europe, we expect to continue to expand our
market presence in the less mature, higher growth regions of South America, Asia and Eastern Europe. While we
expect that overall paper industry growth will help support our business objectives, and that the North American
and Western European markets will continue to represent a substantial majority of our business, the less mature
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paper markets represent a significant growth opportunity. We believe that we are well-positioned to capitalize on
the expected growth in these markets due to our global market position, technological innovation and key
relationships with leading paper producers in such markets.

Continue to Reduce Costs through Productivity Improvements. We have a successful record of improving
our productivity through cost reduction programs and other productivity initiatives. Our management team has
successfully identified and pursued a number of cost-savings opportunities throughout our global manufacturing
and operational base, and we believe that we have the potential to further improve productivity and reduce costs.

Selectively Pursue Strategic Acquisitions and Other Growth Opportunities. We expect to selectively pursue
strategic acquisitions, partnerships or alliances that we believe have the potential to expand our product offerings
and improve our competitiveness. We believe that our global footprint and strong customer relationships position
us well to identify, evaluate and selectively pursue growth-enhancing acquisitions in related product areas and
markets on a global basis. There are a number of other consumable products used in the paper manufacturing
process which we believe could enhance our current product portfolio and allow us to provide a greater number
of our customers’ product and service requirements. In addition, we believe that we have opportunities to grow
our existing businesses through new product innovations, selective investments in new production equipment or
facilities and other initiatives. On February 2, 2006 we acquired privately-held Coldwater Covers, Inc. and a
related manufacturing facility for a total purchase price of approximately $6.8 million, subject to certain
adjustments. Coldwater Covers manufactures polyurethane and composite roll covers and bowed rolls, primarily
for the paper industry and provides mechanical services for rolls used in paper making and in a variety of other
industrial applications.

Products

We operate through two principal business segments, clothing and roll covers. Our clothing segment
products include various types of clothing used on paper-making machines and, to a limited extent, used in other
industrial applications. Through our roll covers segment, we manufacture various types of roll covers, refurbish
previously installed roll covers, provide mechanical services for the internal mechanisms of rolls used on paper-
making machines and manufacture spreader rolls. For a presentation of financial information about our clothing
and roll covers segments, please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” and Note 16 to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements.

Clothing Products

Our clothing segment products are large, highly engineered synthetic textile belts that transport paper as it is
processed on a paper-making machine from paper stock into finished paper. Because all paper-making machines
have different physical configurations and operating parameters, clothing products must be tailored to each
machine. Clothing generally ranges in size from approximately 3 feet to over 30 feet wide and 24 feet to more
than 460 feet long and operates on paper-making machines that run at speeds up to 7,500 feet per minute. We
typically sell clothing products for between $13,000 and $45,000 per unit, although we sell some of our most
sophisticated forming fabrics for up to $200,000 per unit.

‘We manufacture the three general types of clothing products used on paper-making machines—forming
fabrics, press felts and dryer fabrics—each of which is located in a different section of a machine. Forming
fabrics and press felts are typically replaced multiple times a year, but replacement frequency varies significantly
by the grade of paper being produced, the manner in which the paper-making machine is operated and the quality
of raw materials used in the paper stock. Dryer fabrics are replaced less frequently, with replacement typically
taking place no more than once per year.

Forming fabrics. Forming fabrics are used at the head of paper-making machines, where highly diluted
paper stock is deposited on the forming fabric while the fabric is traveling at a very high speed. Forming fabrics
allow water to drain from the paper stock, which creates an initial wet sheet. Forming fabrics must be porous
enough to allow water to drain evenly but tight enough to retain and align the fiber and other materials that form
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the sheet of paper. They must also be strong enough to withstand high mechanical stresses. Forming fabrics are
custom-manufactured in single, double, and triple layer designs in a variety of meshes to suit particular machines
and paper grades. Customers are increasingly demanding the higher-priced triple layer designs that remove more
moisture and produce higher quality paper. In 2005, forming fabrics accounted for approximately 46% of net
sales in our clothing segment.

Press felts. Press felts are used to carry the paper sheet through a series of press rolls that mechanically press
water from the sheet under high pressure. Press felts are designed to maximize water removal, which reduces the
amount of water that must be removed during the expensive energy-intensive drying section of the production
process. Press felts must maximize water removal while maintaining the orientation of the fibers and the
consistency of the thickness of the paper, without removing chemicals or fillers from the paper.

Press felts differ from forming fabrics and dryer fabrics due to the addition of several layers of staple fiber
that are needled into the fabric base. The staple fiber provides a smooth surface to meet the wet sheet of paper
and creates a wicking effect to remove water from the paper sheet as it is pressed under high pressure between
press rolls. Press felts are manufactured in a variety of designs, including lightweight single layer felts, multi-
layer laminated endless felts and seamed felts that allow for reduced installation times. In 2003, press felts
accounted for approximately 36% of net sales in our clothing segment.

Dryer fabrics. Dryer fabrics are used to transport the paper sheet through the drying section of paper-making
machines, where high temperatures from large, steam-heated dryer cylinders evaporate the remaining moisture
from the paper sheet. Dryer fabrics, which are less technically advanced than forming fabrics or press felts, are
woven from heat-resistant yarns with a coarser mesh than forming fabrics. In 2005, dryer fabrics accounted for
approximately 7% of net sales in our clothing segment.

Industrials and Other. We also manufacture other types of clothing used in other industrial applications,
such as steel, plastics, leather and textiles manufacturing. In 2005, sales for such industrial applications
accounted for 9% of net sales in our clothing segment. We also manufacture dewatering devices and auto-joining
equipment used on paper-making machines, which accounted for approximately 2% of our net sales in 2005.

New Clothing Products. In recent years, we have focused our research and development efforts on higher-
value-added, technologically advanced products, such as forming fabrics and press felts, which offer paper
producers the greatest potential for differentiating their products through quality improvements and for
increasing their operating efficiency. Our research and development efforts have resulted in several innovative
new forming fabric and press felt products, including a number of high performance products, such as triple layer
forming fabrics, that we expect paper producers to purchase and use on high performance paper-making
machines. In addition, we have developed new clothing products aimed at segments of the paper-making process
that we have not historically served, such as the growing market for shoe press belts and other clothing products
designed for use in the technologically-advanced press section of a paper-making machine.

Roll Covers Products and Services

In our roll covers segment, the majority of our sales are generated through the manufacture of roll covers.
We also refurbish previously installed roll covers, provide general mechanical maintenance and repair services
for the internal mechanisms of rolls and manufacture spreader rolls.

Roll covers. We manufacture, refurbish and replace covers for three kinds of rolls on paper-making
machines: working rolls (including vacuum rolls and press rolls), calendar rolls and coater rolls. There are
approximately 200 such rolls in a typical paper-making machine. These metal rolls, which can be up to 39 feet
long, 5 feet in diameter and weigh 500 to 140,000 pounds, are covered with an exterior layer of rubber,
polyurethane, composite or ceramic, each of which is designed for use in a particular phase of the paper-making
process. Roll covers operate in temperatures up to 500 degrees Fahrenheit, under pressures up to 1,400 pounds
per square inch and at speeds up to 7,500 feet per minute. Roll covers are typically replaced every two to five
years.



Roll cover replacement is performed at the supplier’s manufacturing facility, which necessitates removing
the roll from the paper-making machine, transporting it to the supplier’s site and using a spare in the interim. In
general, each roll on a paper-making machine is unique due to its dimensions, specific design and cover material,
and therefore not interchangeable with other rolls. Because of their large size, paper producers generally maintain
only one spare roll for each position on a paper-making machine. It is important that the roll cover replacement
be completed quickly, because a malfunction of the spare roll could render the paper-making machine
inoperable.

Due to the large size and weight of a roll, the transportation to and from a supplier’s site can be costly and is
often subject to regulations on road use that restrict available routes and times of travel, and that may require
safety escorts. Round-trip transcontinental travel can take several weeks and intercontinental travel is rare. We
offer an extensive network of manufacturing facilities worldwide, often in close proximity to our customers,
which we believe is a significant competitive advantage.

We typically sell roll covers for between $5,000 per roll (e.g., for a small installed rubber roll cover) and
$300,000 per roll (e.g., for a large installed polyurethane cover). Sales of roll covers accounted for approximately
65% of our total sales in our roll covers segment in 2005.

Roll Cover Refurbishment Services and Mechanical Services. Roll covers are typically refurbished several
times over the two to five years they are in service before needing to be replaced. Refurbishment typically
includes the regrinding of the roll cover to standard specifications and inspecting the bearings and other
mechanical components of the roll. As with roll cover replacement, refurbishment is performed at the supplier’s
manufacturing facility. Similar to the paper producer’s selection of a roll cover supplier, the selection of a
refurbishment provider is influenced by the time and expense of transporting a roll cover. We believe our
extensive network of manufacturing facilities worldwide is a significant competitive advantage. Refurbishment
services typically cost between $1,000 for minor roll repairs and $50,000 for a complete overhaul on certain
press rolls.

We offer a wide range of mechanical maintenance and repair services for the internal mechanisms of rolls.
Paper producers are increasingly finding it economical to have the company that refurbishes or replaces a roll
cover also perform work on the internal roll mechanisms at the same time, which avoids having multiple
suppliers and incurring additional time and transportation charges. We began performing such services to meet
the demands of our customers and attempt to gain a competitive advantage. We provide major mechanical
services at ten locations around the world and we are expanding to additional locations. Roll cover refurbishment
services and mechanical services accounted for approximately 13% of our total sales in our roll covers segment
in 2005.

Spreader rolls. We manufacture and repair spreader rolls, which are small-diameter curved rolls used
throughout a paper-making machine to stretch, smooth and remove wrinkles from the paper and clothing. There
are approximately five to seven spreader rolls in a typical paper-making machine. We typically sell spreader rolls
for between $50,000 and $100,000 per roll. We also rebuild and overhaul existing spreader rolls, typically for
between $5,000 and $50,000 per roll. Sales of spreader rolls and related services accounted for approximately
22% of our total sales in our roll covers segment in 2005.

In 2005, net sales to the paper-making industry accounted for approximately 90% of our total sales in our
roll covers segment. Paper producers accounted for approximately 80% of net sales, and paper-making machine
manufacturers accounted for approximately 10% of net sales. Sales for use in other industrial applications,
including steel, plastics, leather and textiles manufacturing, accounted for the remaining 10% of our net sales in
our roll covers segment.

New Roll Products. We have introduced a number of innovations to our roll cover and spreader roll products
in recent years, including composite calendar roll covers that use nanoparticle technology to improve roll cover
durability and paper gloss, as well as covers that use an improved polyurethane to increase abrasion and moisture
resistance as well as responsiveness and stability. .




Customers

We supply leading paper producers worldwide. We also supply clothing products to the two major paper-
making machine manufacturers, Voith AG and Metso Corporation. Our top ten customers accounted for 27% of
net sales in 2005 and individually, no customer accounted for more than 5% of 2005 net sales. In 2005, 40% of
our net sales was in North America, 36% was in Europe, 9% was in South America, 13% was in Asia-Pacific and
2% was in the rest of the world.

Competition

Our largest competitors are Albany International Corporation (a publicly-owned U.S. company), which
supplies clothing products, Voith AG (a privately-owned German company), which supplies both clothing and
roll products, Metso Corporation {a publicly-owned Finnish company), which supplies roll products, and
AstenJohnson, Inc. (a privately-owned U.S. company), which supplies clothing products. We also face
competition from smaller regional suppliers. Voith and Metso are the leading manufacturers of paper-making
machines and entered the roll covers market in the last five years through acquisitions.

We compete primarily based on the value and price of our products. Competition with respect to both
clothing and roll covers, particularly as it relates to our technologically advanced forming fabrics, press felts and
roll covers, is based primarily on the value that the products deliver to the paper producer through the ability of
such products to reduce production costs and improve paper quality.

Competition in the clothing and roll covers market is also based on a supplier’s ability to deliver
engineering and technical services. Many paper producers have been reducing their in-house engineering and
technical staff and increasingly expect their suppliers to provide such services. While smaller suppliers often lack
the resources necessary to invest in and provide this level of engineering and technical service, we have made
investments in order to provide the following services to the paper producers: specialist advice and resident
engineers, installation support, on-call “trouble-shooting” and performance monitoring and analysis of paper-
making machines.

In the roll covers market, competition is also based on a supplier’s proximity to the paper producer’s
facilities, which affects the transportation time and expense associated with refurbishing or replacing a roll cover,
and on the supplier’s ability to provide mechanical services to a roll’s internal mechanisms while the roll cover is
being refurbished or replaced. We offer an extensive network of facilities throughout the world and provide
mechanical services at ten locations.

Research and Development

Our continuing ability to deliver value depends on developing product innovations. As we create new and
improved products we often obtain patent protection for our innovations, which is indicative of our technical
capabilities and creativity. Although we do not consider any single patent to be material to our business, we
believe that, in the aggregate, our patents and other intellectual property provide us with a competitive advantage.
We currently have approximately 220 domestic and foreign patents outstanding and approximately 180 pending
patent applications. Our patents and patent applications cover approximately 85 different inventions. Some of our
competitors license our technology from us in exchange for royalty payments, although such licensing does not
represent a material amount of our business.




Production
Clothing Production Process

The following diagram represents the clothing production process.
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The clothing production process begins with the spinning of synthetic fiber threads to produce yarn, which
is then twisted in preparation for the manufacturing of clothing. Yarn, which is sometimes purchased as a raw
material, is then wound on large spools prior to installation on the loom. The yarn is drawn through needles in
preparation for weaving.

With the yarn prepared for weaving, a weave pattern can be installed in the loom controller. The nature of
the weave pattern is critical to how the clothing performs in the paper-making process. The yarn is then woven to
the desired length. Technological advancements have resulted in weaving becoming an almost entirely automated
process. Following weaving, the two ends are permanently joined to form a continuous loop of clothing.
Although significant automation has occurred in the joining process, it remains the most labor intensive of the
clothing production process.

Press felts then undergo a process that is not necessary for forming and dryer fabrics. An additional layer of
fibers is added to the outside surface with the use of an advanced needling machine, such that a very smooth felt
surface is created.

All clothing then undergoes heat setting and chemical treating. Heat setting tightens the clothing giving it
the necessary mechanical properties for the paper-making process. Finally, the clothing is meticulously inspected
prior to being shipped to the customer.

Roll Cover Production Process

The following diagram represents the roll covering production process.
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The covering on the rolls used in the paper-making process wear over time and must be periodically
replaced for the roll to function properly. Rolls are removed from the paper-making machine and taken to an
offsite facility for re-covering. During this time, a spare roll is placed in the machine to enable continuous
operations.

The first step of the roll covering process is the removal of the old cover. A lathe and belt grinder are used
to remove the old cover, exposing the roll shell. The shell is cleaned with a pressure washer and blasted with
solid particles to increase the shell’s surface area for bonding of the new cover. Following the blasting process,
the shell is ready to be re-covered.

The shell is then coated with proprietary bonding agents that affix the new roll cover to the shell. Each type
of cover material is applied with a different process. Rubber and composite covers are extruded in a slow
spinning lathe. Polyurethane covers are typically cast on the core using a mold, and ceramic covering is expelled
onto the shell at high pressure.

Following application of the core material, the cover undergoes a curing process. Rubber covers are cured
for 12 to 28 hours in vulcanizers under high temperature and pressure, whereas polyurethane and composite
materials are cured in a hot air oven. After curing, the roll cover is ground with belts and grinding stones. A
proprietary pattern of holes and grooves is then drilled into the cover to aid in water removal. Finally, the roll is
balanced for proper spinning motion and meticulously checked for quality before being returned to the customer.

The roll cover production process is capital intensive and requires a variety of equipment, including lathes,
belt grinders, polyurethane casting molds (for polyurethane roll covers), extruders, mix stations, vulcanizers,
ovens and balancing equipment.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005 we had 3,846 employees worldwide, of which 2,955 were manufacturing
employees, 459 were sales and marketing employees, 81 were in research and development and 351 were
administrative and other employees. As of December 31, 2005, 2,954 of our employees are subject to protection
as members of trade unions or various collective bargaining agreements, primarily outside of the United States.
We believe that we have good relations with our employees’ trade unions and labor unions and we have not
experienced any material labor disputes.

Our Corporate Information

We are subject to the information requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”). Therefore, we file periodic reports, proxy statements, and other information with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Such reports, proxy statements, and other information may be obtained by
visiting the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549 or by calling the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site at http://www.sec.gov that contains
reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

We maintain a website at www.xerium.com to provide information to the general public and our
shareholders on our products and services, along with general information on Xertum We make our periodic and
current reports available, free of charge, on our web site as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are
filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our corporate code of business conduct and
ethics, our corporate governance guidelines, and the charters of each of the committees of our board of directors
are also made available, free of charge, on our website. Our corporate code of business conduct and ethics, which
includes our code of ethics, and related waivers (if any) are posted on our website. Copies of these documents
may be obtained, free of charge, by writing Investor Relations, Xerium Technologies, Inc., One Technology
Drive, Westborough, Massachusetts 01581, or telephoning us at 508-532-1790.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We may occasionally make forward-looking statements and estimates such as forecasts and projections of
our future performance or statements of our plans and objectives. These forward-looking statements may be
contained in, among other things, filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, press releases made by us and in oral statements made by our officers. Actual results could
differ materially from those contained in such forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause our
actual results to differ from those contained in such forward-looking statements include, among other things, the
risks described below.

Risks Relating to our Business and the Industry
A sustained downturn in the paper industry could adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Our ability to sell our products depends primarily on the volume of paper produced on a worldwide basis.
The profitability of paper producers has historically been highly cyclical due to wide swings in the price of paper,
and the paper industry is currently experiencing a period of lower prices that began in 2001. A sustained
downturn in the paper industry, either globally or in a particular region, can cause paper manufacturers to reduce
production or cease operations, which could adversely affect our revenues and profitability. In anticipation of the
downturn that began in 2001, paper producers began in 2000 to take actions that seek to structurally improve the
balance between the supply of and demand for paper. As part of these efforts, they have shut down many paper-
making machines. This has been particularly true in North America and announcements by paper producers for
shutdowns of paper-making machines has continued, although at a reduced level compared to 2001 through
2004. In 2005, there has been an increase in the number of announced planned shutdowns of paper-making
machines in Europe, although not at the level experienced in recent years in North America. During this period,
the sales and profitability of our North American operations were adversely affected by these shutdowns.

We may be required to reorganize our operations in response to changing conditions in the paper
industry, and such actions may require significant expenditures and the results on operations may not
ultimately be successful.

In the past few years, we have undertaken various restructuring measures in response to changing market
conditions in the paper industry triggered by the decline in paper prices that began in 2001. For example,
between January 1, 2003 and December 31, 2005, we incurred costs of approximately $42.3 million, including
$16.6 million for capital expenditures, in connection with our cost reduction programs, including the closure of
eight manufacturing facilities worldwide. We may engage in additional cost reduction programs in the future. We
may not recoup the costs of programs we have already initiated, or other programs we may decide to engage in
the future, the costs of which may be significant. In 2005, we experienced delays in shifting production from
closed facilities to other facilities which adversely impacted our revenues and profitability. In connection with
any future plant closures, delays or failures in the transition of production from a closed facility to our other
facilities could also adversely affect our revenues.and profitability. In addition, our profitability may decline if
our restructuring efforts do not sufficiently reduce our future costs while at the same time positioning us to
maintain or increase our sales.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Our foreign operations expose us to fluctuations in currency exchange rates and currency devaluations. We
report our financial results in US Dollars, but a substantial portion of our sales and expenses are denominated in
Euros and other currencies. As a result, changes in the relative values of US Dollars, Euros and these other
currencies will affect our levels of revenues and profitability. If the value of the US Dollar increases relative to
the value of the Euro and these other currencies, our levels of revenue and profitability will decline since the
translation of a certain number of Euros or units of such other currencies into US Dollars for financial reporting
purposes will represent fewer US Doliars. In addition, in the case of sales to customers in certain locations, our
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sales are denominated in US Dollars or Euros but all or a substantial portion of our associated costs are
denominated in a different currency. As a result, changes in the relative values of US Dollars, Euros and any such
different currency will affect our profitability. Although in certain circumstances we attempt to hedge our
exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, our hedging strategies may not be effective.

In addition, our credit facility contains financial covenants that require us to maintain a minimum interest
coverage ratio, a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. Our ability to comply
with these covenants will depend in part upon our reported financial results, which as indicated above are directly
affected by currency fluctuations. For example, in the event the value of the US Dollar increases relative to the
Euro and other currencies in which we conduct business (and ignoring any other changes affecting our financial
performance), the amount of our Adjusted EBITDA will decline. Since each of the financial ratio covenants in
our credit facility is calculated by reference to the amount of our Adjusted EBITDA, currency fluctuations alone
could lower the amount of our Adjusted EBITDA and therefore affect our ability to remain in compliance with
our financial ratio covenants. In addition, we have certain indebtedness denominated in foreign currencies. A
decline in the value of the US Dollar relative to these other currencies will result in an increase in the reported
amount of our indebtedness when the amount of such indebtedness is translated into US Dollars for financial
reporting purposes. Since the leverage ratio calculated under our credit facility increases based upon the amount
of our reported indebtedness, a decline in the value of the US Dollar may result in our failure to maintain a
leverage ratio below the maximum levels provided for in our credit facility. In summary, even if our results of
operations meet our expectations when viewed in local currencies, we may not be able to satisfy the financial
covenants in our credit facility as a result of currency fluctuations alone. If we are not in compliance with such
covenants, we will be in default under or credit facility and will be prohibited by the terms of the credit facility
from paying dividends and the lender may call the debt.

Following December 31, 2006, our credit facility limits the payment of dividends in any fiscal quarter to an
amount that, when added to the amount of dividends paid in the three fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to
such fiscal quarter, does not exceed 75% of our pre-dividend free cash flow (as defined in our credit facility) for
the four fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to such fiscal quarter. The amount of our pre-dividend free cash
flow depends on the reported amounts of our Adjusted EBITDA and other financial items which may be affected
by currency fluctuations. Accordingly, even if currency fluctuations do not result in our failure to satisfy the
financial covenants contained in our credit facility, such fluctuations may limit the amount of dividends we are
permitted to pay.

Dividend payments on our common stock are to be paid in US Dollars. We do not expect to generate
sufficient cash flows denominated in US Dollars to make such payments and will therefore rely, in part, on the
conversion to US Dollars of cash flows generated in other currencies. The amount of US Dollars received from
the conversion of cash flows generated in other currencies will depend on the then-current exchange rates. If the
value of the US Dollar increases relative to the value of these other currencies, the cash flows will represent
fewer US Dollars. As a result, even if our results of operations meet our expectations in local currencies and we
are permitted to pay dividends under our credit facility, we may not have sufficient cash to pay such dividends.

For additional information about the risks associated with fluctuations in currency exchange rates, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Foreign Exchange.”

Increased price competition in our industry could adversely affect our gross margins and net sales.

We and our competitors have been able to sell clothing and roll covers products and services at favorable
prices that reflect the value they deliver to customers. This favorable pricing has been particularly available for
our more technologically advanced products, such as forming fabrics, press felts and roll covers. If our
competitors reduce the prices of such products, we may be required to decrease our prices to compete
successfully, which could adversely affect our gross margins, net sales and profitability. In 20035, pricing pressure
from our competitors required us to reduce the size of or eliminate proposed increases in the prices of our
products. Our inability to increase our prices in the future could adversely affect our profitability.
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Our industry is competitive and our future success will depend on our ability to effectively develop and
market competitive products.

The paper-making consumables industry is highly competitive. Some of our competitors are larger than us, have
greater financial and other resources and are well-established as suppliers to the markets we serve. In addition,
some of our competitors also manufacture paper-making machines and have the ability to initially package sales
of their clothing and roll cover products with the sale of their machines and/or to tie the warranties on their
machines to the use of their clothing and roll cover products. Our products may not be able to compete
successfully with the products of our competitors, which could result in a loss of customers and, as a result,
decreased sales and profitability. We compete primarily based on the value our products deliver to our customers.
Our value proposition is based on a combination of price and the technology and performance of our products,
including the ability of our products to help reduce our customers’ production costs and increase the quality of
the paper they produce. Our competitors could develop new technology or products that lead to a reduced
demand for our products. In addition, our business depends on our customers regularly needing to replace the
clothing and roll covers used on their paper-making machines. Either we or our competitors could develop new
technologies that increase the useful life of clothing or roll covers, which could reduce the frequency with which
our customers would need to replace their clothing and refurbish or replace their roll covers, and consequently
lead to fewer sales.

Because we have substantial operations outside the United States, we are subject to the economic and
political conditions of foreign nations.

We have manufacturing facilities in 14 foreign countries. In 2005, we sold products in approximately 62
countries other than the United States, which represented approximately 70% of our net sales. Our foreign
operations are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including risks that:

« foreign governments may impose limitations on our ability to repatriate funds;

» foreign governments may impose withholding or other taxes on remittances and other payments to us, or
the amount of any such taxes may increase;

+ an outbreak or escalation of any insurrection or armed conflict may occur; or

+ foreign governments may impose or increase investment barriers or other restrictions affecting our
business.

The occurrence of any of these conditions could disrupt our business in particular countries or regions of the
world, or prevent us from conducting business in particular countries or regions, which could adversely affect our
revenues and profitability. In addition, as a holding company we will rely on dividends and other payments or
distributions from our subsidiaries to meet our debt obligations and enable us to pay dividends. If foreign
governments impose limitations on our ability to repatriate funds or impose or increase taxes on remittances or
other payments to us, the amount of dividends and other distributions we receive from our subsidiaries could be
reduced, which could reduce the amount of cash available to us to meet our debt obligations and pay dividends.

‘We must continue to innovate and improve our products to maintain our competitive advantage.

Our ability to retain our customers and increase our business depends on our ability to continually develop
new, technologically superior products. We cannot assure that our investments in technological development will
be sufficient, that we will be able to create and market new products or that we will be successful in competing
against new technologies developed by competitors.

The loss of our major customers could have a material adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

Our top ten customers generated 27% of our net sales during 2005. The loss of one or more of our major
customers, or a substantial decrease in such customers’ purchases from us, could have a material adverse effect
on our sales and profitability. Because we do not generally have binding long-term purchasing agreements with
our customers, there can be no assurance that our existing customers will continue to purchase products from us.
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We may fail to adequately protect our proprietary technology, which would allow competitors or others to
take advantage of our research and development efforts.

We rely upon trade secrets, proprietary know-how, and continuing technological innovation to develop new
products and remain competitive. If our competitors learn of our proprietary technology, they may use this
information to produce products that are equivalent or superior to our products, which could reduce the sales of
our products. Our employees, consultants, and corporate collaborators may breach their obligations not to reveal
our confidential information, and any remedies available to us may be insufficient to compensate our damages.
Even in the absence of such breaches, our trade secrets and proprietary know-how may otherwise become known
to our competitors, or be independently discovered by our competitors, which could adversely affect our
competitive position.

We may be liable for product defects or other claims relating to our products.

Our products could be defective, fail to perform as designed or otherwise cause harm to our customers, their
equipment or their products. If any of our products are defective, we may be required to recall the products and/
or repair or replace them, which could result in substantial expenses and affect our profitability. Any problems
with the performance of our products could harm our reputation, which could result in a loss of sales to
customers and/or potential customers. In addition, if our customers believe that they have suffered harm caused
by our products, they could bring claims against us that could result in significant liability. A failure of our
products could cause substantial damage to a paper-making machine. Any claims brought against us by
customers may result in:

+ diversion of management’s time and attention;
¢ expenditure of large amounts of cash on legal fees, expenses, and payment of damages;
+ decreased demand for our products and services; and

* injury to our reputation.

Our insurance may not sufficiently cover a large judgment against us or settlement payment, and is subject
to customary deductibles, limits and exclusions.

We could incur substantial costs as a result of violations of or liabilities under laws protecting the
environment and human health.

Our operations and facilities are subject to a number of national, state and local laws and regulations
protecting the environment and human health in the United States and foreign countries that govern, among other
things, the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous materials, discharges of pollutants into the air and water
and workplace safety. The U.S. federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act, as amended (“CERCLA”) provides for responses to, and, in some instances, joint and several liability for
releases of, hazardous substances into the environment. Environmental laws also hold current owners or
operators of land or businesses liable for their own and for previous owners’ or operators’ releases of hazardous
or toxic substances, materials or wastes, pollutants or contaminants, including petroleum and petroleum products.
Because of our operations, the history of industrial uses at some of our facilities, the operations of predecessor
owners or operators of some of the businesses, and the use and release of hazardous substances at these sites, the
liability provisions of environmental laws may affect us. Many of our facilities have experienced some level of
regulatory scrutiny in the past and are or may be subject to further regulatory inspections, future requests for
investigation or liability for regulated materials management practices.

We cannot assure that we have been or will be at all times in compiete compliance with all laws and
regulations applicable to us which are designed to protect the environment and human health. We could incur
substantial costs, including clean-up costs, fines and sanctions and third party property damage or personal injury
claims, as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental laws, relevant common law or the
environmental permits required for our operations. We are currently conducting environmental remediation
projects at certain of our sites, and we have been identified as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or
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similar state requirements for several off-site locations. As of December 31, 2005 we have reserves of $1.6
million to cover anticipated remediation costs of contamination at certain of our facilities. There can be no
assurance that actual remediation costs will not exceed such reserves.

Adverse labor relations could harm our operations and reduce our profitability.

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 3,800 employees, approximately 22% of whom were
subject to protection of various collective bargaining agreements and approximately 55% of whom were subject
to job protection as members of trade unions, employee associations or workers’ councils. Approximately 61%
of the employees subject to collective bargaining agreements (or approximately 14% of our total employees)
were covered by collective bargaining agreements that expire prior to December 31, 2006. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to renew such collective bargaining agreements, or enter into new collective bargaining
agreements which do not adversely affect our operating results and without production interruptions, including
labor stoppages. In addition, approximately 90% of the employees subject to job protection as members of trade
unions, employer associations or workers’ councils (or approximately 49% of our total employees) were subject
to arrangements that expire prior to December 31, 2006. We cannot assure you that the terms of employment
applicable to such employees will not change in a manner which adversely affects our operating results. We
cannot assure you that we will not experience disruptions in our operations as a result of labor disputes or
experience other labor relations issues. If we are unable to maintain good relations with our employees, our
ability to produce our products and provide services to our customers could be reduced and/or our production
costs could increase, either of which could disrupt our business and reduce our profitability.

If we acquire other businesses, we may not be able to successfully integrate them into our operations and/
or the expected benefits of such acquisitions may not be realized.

Our growth strategy may include the acquisition of one or more businesses. Any such acquisition involves
numerous risks, which may include:

+ difficulty in assimilating the operations, technologies, products and the key employees of the acquired
businesses;

¢ our inability to maintain the existing customers of the acquired business or succeed in selling the
products or services of the acquired business to our existing customers;

» adiversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

* our entry into markets in which competitors have a better established market position than the business
we acquire;

+ the incurrence of significant expenses in completing the acquisitions; and

» the assumption of significant liabilities, some of which may be unknown at the time of the acquisition.

Our inability to successfully execute any acquisitions or integrate acquired businesses could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Risks Relating to our Capital Structure
You may not receive any dividends.

Dividend payments are not guaranteed and are within the absolute discretion of our board of directors. You
may not receive any dividends as a result of any of the following factors:

¢ we are not obligated to pay dividends;
¢ our credit facility limits the amount of dividends we are permitted to pay;

* while our current dividend policy contemplates the distribution of a substantial portion of the cash
generated by our business in excess of the following: operating needs, reserves for contingencies,
interest and principal payments on indebtedness, capital expenditures, restructuring expenses and tax
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payments, as regular quarterly dividends to the holders of our common stock at an annual rate of up to
$0.90 per share, our board of directors could modify or revoke the policy at any time and for any reason.
Our dividend policy is based upon our current assessment of the cash needs of our business and the
environment in which it operates. That assessment could change due to, among other things, changes in
our results of operations, cash requirements, financial condition, contractual restrictions, growth
opportunities, competitive or technological developments, provisions of applicable law and other factors
that our board of directors may deem relevant;

« even if the dividend policy is not modified or revoked, our board of directors could decide to reduce
dividends or not to pay any dividends at all, at any time and for any reason;

» the amount of dividends distributed is subject to state law restrictions;
* our stockholders have no contractual or other legal right to dividends;

* we may not have enough cash to pay dividends due to changes to our operating earnings, working
capital requirements and other anticipated cash needs; and

» our foreign subsidiaries may be subject to legal restrictions that prevent them from distributing cash to
us to enable the payment of dividends.

The reduction or elimination of dividends may negatively affect the market price of our common stock.

QOur credit facility prohibits us from paying dividends in the future if we do not improve our financial
performance.

Our credit facility restricts our ability to declare and pay dividends on our common stock. We may not pay
dividends if a default or event of default under our credit facility has occurred and is continuing or would occur
as a consequence of such payment. Our credit facility requires that we meet certain financial ratios in order to
avoid a default or event of default under the facility. These covenants, as amended on February 8, 2006, are as
follows:

*  Qur interest coverage ratio as of the end of any period set forth below must exceed the ratio set forth for

such period:

Period Ratio
Fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2005 through September 30,2006 ................. 3.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2006 and March 31,2007 ......... ... ... ... ..... 4.00:1
Fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2007 through December 31,2007 ...................... 4.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2008 through December 31,2008 .. ................... 4.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2009 through December 31,2009 . ....... ... ... ... .. 4.75:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2010 through December 31,2010 ..................... 5.00:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31,2011 and thereafter ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... ..... 5.25:1
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« Our leverage ratio as of the end of any period set forth below must not exceed the ratio set forth for such

petiod:

Period Ratio
Fiscal quarter ending December 31,2005 ....... ... ... ... .. . .. 4.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2006 through December 31,2006 .. ................... 4.75:1
Fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2007 ... ... ittt e 4.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2007 through December 31,2007 ...................... 4.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2008 and June 30,2008 .......... ... ... .. ... . ..... 3.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2008 and December 31,2008 .. ................... 3.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2009 through December 31,2009 .............. ... .... 3.00:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2010 and June 30,2010 ... ...... ... ... ... . ... .. 2.75:1
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2010 and December 31,2010 .. ................... 2.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2011 and June 30,2011 ........... ... ... .. ... . . ... 2.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2011 and thereafter ................... ... ... ... 2.00:1

*  Our fixed charge coverage ratio as of the end of any period set forth below must exceed the ratio set
forth for such period: ’

Period Ratio
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2005 through December 31,2006 ................. 1.75:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2007 through December 31,2007 ..................... 1.85:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2008 and thereafter ............... ... ... ... ... .... 1.90:1

For the four fiscal quarters ended December 31, 2005 our interest coverage ratio was 4.27:1, our leverage
ratio was 4.24:1, and our fixed charge coverage ratio was 2.63:1. There can be no assurance that we will continue
to be in compliance with such financial ratios. In order to be in compliance with such financial ratios in respect
of the four fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2006, we will need to generate Adjusted EBITDA during such
period that is nearly equal to the amount of Adjusted EBITDA we generated in 2005, Because the financial ratios
become more restrictive over time, our financial performance will need to improve after 2006 in order for us to
remain in compliance with the financial ratios in subsequent periods. Our ability to comply with the financial
ratios may be affected by events beyond our control, such as prevailing economic, financial and industry
conditions, including unfavorable foreign currency movements relative to the US Dollar.

For the periods after December 31, 2006, subject to our compliance with the financial ratios described
above, we may pay dividends on each dividend payment date up to an amount that, when added to the amount of
dividends paid on the three most recent prior quarterly dividend payment dates, does not exceed 75% of our
pre-dividend free cash flow for the four fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to such dividend payment date.
“Pre-dividend free cash flow” is defined in our credit facility as Adjusted EBITDA minus the sum of (i) net
interest expense paid in cash, (ii) net cash taxes, (iii) cash capital expenditures (reduced by the amount of any
asset sale, insurance or condemnation proceeds which we are permitted to retain in our business and any capital
expenditures made with the proceeds of previously generated surplus cash and any capital expenditure used to
expand press felt production capacity in Brazil in 2006 (up to $8.4 miilion) and 2007 (up to $8.2 million)),

(iv) all scheduled debt repayments, (v) cash restructuring expenses (up to specified amounts per the credit
facility) and (vi) cash payments of withholding taxes from proceeds of the repurchase, redemption or retention of
our common stock relating to equity incentive awards.

Giving pro forma effect to our initial public offering and the other related transactions, including the
establishment of our credit facility in connection with the offering, as amended in February 2006, and the legal
reorganization of a portion of our international operations, as if such transactions had been consummated
immediately prior to January 1, 2005, we would have generated $52.7 million of pre-dividend free cash flow for
the 2005 fiscal year. If the credit facility restriction based upon pre-dividend free cash flow were applicable for
2003, this level of pre-dividend free cash flow would permit maximum dividend payments in respect of any
consecutive four fiscal quarter period of $39.5 million, which is greater than the approximately $39.4 million
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necessary to pay dividends at a $.90 per share annual rate based upon 43,725,093 shares of common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2005. We expect that in comparison to 2005, increased expenditures in 2006 for
capital investment (not including additional capital expenditures of up to $8.4 million to expand press felt
production capacity in Brazil that we expect to fund out of cash on hand at December 31, 2005) and payments of
withholding taxes in respect of retained common stock relating to equity incentive awards will be offset by lower
cash restructuring costs in 2006. The amount of our cash income tax costs in 2006 will be largely dependent on
the geographies in which our income for 2006 is earned, and therefore if our Adjusted EBITDA for 2006 were at
the same level as 2005, $155.5 million, cash income taxes for 2006 could be higher or lower than in 2005.
Accordingly, our credit facility could prohibit us from paying dividends at a $0.90 per share annual rate when the
pre-dividend free cash flow limitation on dividends applies if our financial performance does not improve. If
necessary to enable us to pay dividends in accordance with our dividend policy, we would consider reducing our
planned capital expenditures for 2006 to a level that would not adversely affect our ability to execute on our
business plan in the near term. In addition, based upon our expected cash expenditures in 2006 (not including the
additional capital expenditures of up to $8.4 million to expand press felt production in Brazil described above
and a voluntary repayment of our senior debt in the amount of $5 million made in February 2006 out of cash on
hand at December 31, 2005) and depending on the timing of those expenditures, in order to pay dividends at $.90
per share annual rate out of cash flow from operations, we may need to achieve financial performance at above
2005 Adjusted EBITDA levels. If our cash flow from operations are not sufficient to fund dividends, we would
either need to reduce our dividend or, so long as permitted to do so under our credit facility, fund a portion of our
dividends with cash on hand or borrowings under our credit facility or from other sources.

We are subject to restrictive debt covenants that limit our business flexibility by imposing operating and
financial restrictions on our operations.

Our credit facility imposes significant operating and financial restrictions on our operations that may restrict
our ability to pursue our business strategies. These restrictions will prohibit or limit, among other things:

» the incurrence of additional indebtedness and the issuance of preferred stock and certain redeemable
capital stock;

* investments and acquisitions;

» disposition of assets and subsidiary interests;

» transactions with affiliates;

* the creation of liens on our assets;

» consolidations, mergers and transfers of all or substantially all of our assets; and

» our ability to change the nature of our business.

The terms of our credit facility include other restrictive covenants and prohibit us from prepaying our other
indebtedness while indebtedness under the credit facility is outstanding. These restrictions could limit our ability

to obtain future financing, make acquisitions or needed capital expenditures, withstand downturns in our business
or take advantage of business opportunities.

Our substantial indebtedness could restrict our ability to pay dividends with respect to shares of our
common stock and impact our financing options and liquidity position.

We have a significant amount of debt. As of December 31, 2005, our total amount of outstanding debt, on a
consolidated basis, was $649.1 million. The degree to which we are leveraged on a consolidated basis could have
important consequences to the holders of our common stock, including:

* we may not have sufficient funds available to pay dividends on our common stock;

* we may not be able to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all;
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 our ability in the future to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures or
acquisitions may be limited;

* we may be more vulnerable to economic downturns and be limited in our ability to withstand
competitive pressures; and

» our leverage may limit our flexibility to plan for and react to changes in our business or strategy.

We may be able to incur substantially more debt, which would increase the risks described above
associated with our substantial leverage.

We may be able to incur a substantial amount of additional indebtedness in the future. The credit facility
provides up to $50 million of borrowing under our revolving credit facility, of which $45.9 million was undrawn
as of December 31, 2005, and for the incurrence of $20 million of additional indebtedness with respect to capital
leases and purchase money obligations, $15 million of general additional indebtedness and certain other
additional indebtedness, including, subject to the satisfaction of certain financial ratios on a pro forma basis after
giving effect to such incurrence, up to $150 million of subordinated indebtedness incurred in connection with
permitted acquisitions. The terms of any agreement under which we incur additional indebtedness could contain
limitations on the payment of dividends which are more restrictive than the terms of our credit facility. Any
additional indebtedness incurred by us could increase the risks associated with our substantial leverage.

We will require a significant amount of cash, which may not be available to us, to service our debt and to
fund our liquidity needs.

Our ability to make payments on, refinance or repay our debt, to fund planned capital expenditures or to
expand our business will depend largely upon our future operating performance. Our future operating
performance is dependent upon our ability to execute our business strategy successfully. Such performance is
also subject to general economiic, financial and competitive factors, as well as other factors that are beyond our
control. There can be no assurance that our future operating performance will generate sufficient cash to support
our cash requirements, or that we will not need to curtail or cease dividend payments, reduce capital expenditures
or take other actions designed to conserve our cash in order to make payments required to service our
indebtedness.

Required payments with respect to our indebtedness and payments pursuant to our dividend policy will
reduce the amount of funds available for other corporate purposes, which could harm our competitiveness
and/or limit opportunities to grow our business.

We expect that a significant portion of the cash generated by our business will be used to make required
interest and principal payments under our credit facility. In addition, in accordance with our dividend policy, we
currently intend to use a substantial portion of the remaining cash generated by our business, in excess of
operating needs, reserves for contingencies, capital expenditures, restructuring expenses and tax payments, to pay
dividends on our common stock, which will reduce the amount of funds available for other purposes. As a result:

» we will have less funds available to devote to research and development, which could reduce our ability
to develop new and innovative technologies and products and ultimately affect our ability to remain
competitive;

* we will have less funds available for capital expenditures, which could inhibit our ability to invest in
new or upgraded production equipment and other capabilities, thereby restricting efforts to improve our
manufacturing processes, reduce our operating costs, expand product offerings and/or conduct business
in new markets; and

+ we will have reduced flexibility to finance growth opportunities, such as acquisitions, which could limit
or cause us to forego future opportunities to grow our business.
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The market price of our common stock has been volatile since our initial public offering and may continue
to be volatile.

Shares of our common stock may continue to experience substantial price volatility, including significant
decreases, in response to a number of events, including:

* our quarterly operating results;

* sales of our common stock by principal stockholders;
* issuances of our common stock by us;

* the amount of dividends, if any, that we pay;

» future announcements concerning our business;

» the failure of securities analysts to cover our common stock and/or changes in financial estimates and
recommendations by securities analysts;

» actions of competitors;

» fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

* changes in U.S. and foreign government regulation;

» general market, economic and political conditions; and

¢ natural disasters, terrorist attacks and acts of war.

Some companies that have had volatile market prices for their securities have had securities class action
lawsuits filed against them. If a lawsuit were to be filed against us, regardless of the outcome, it could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources. This could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

As of December 31, 2005, entities affiliated with Apax Europe IV GP Co. Ltd. (“Apax’’) own
approximately 52% of our common stock and will therefore have significant influence over our business
and significant transactions.

As aresult entities affiliated with Apax owning approximately 52% of our common stock as of
December 31, 2005, Apax and its affiliates have a strong ability to influence our business, policies and affairs. To
the extent these entities continue to own in excess of 50% of our common stock, they will have the ability to
control the outcome of all elections of directors and any stockholder vote regarding a merger or other
extraordinary transaction. One representative of Apax serves on our seven-member board of directors, although
Apax has no contractual rights to nominate any directors. We cannot assure you that the interests of Apax will be
consistent with the interests of other holders of common stock. In addition, this concentration of ownership could
have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, merger or tender offer, which would deprive you of
an opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of common stock and may negatively affect the market price
of our common stock. Moreover, Apax either alone or with other existing equity investors could effectively
receive a premium for transferring ownership to third parties that would not inure to the benefit of other
inventors.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2005, we operate 42 facilities, of which 35 are manufacturing facilities, in 15 countries,
located in Argentina, Australia, Austria, Brazil, Canada, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Spain,
Sweden, the United Kingdom and the United States. We acquired an additional manufacturing facility in the
United States on February 2, 2006 as a result of our acquisition of Coldwater Covers, Inc. Of the 36
manufacturing facilities that we operate, 12 are clothing manufacturing facilities, 22 are rolls manufacturing
facilities and 2 are both clothing and rolls facilities. The majority of our facilities are owned by us, rather than
leased. We have one vacant former clothing manufacturing facility in the United States.

We also have license agreements with four licensees that manufacture our roll covers products at their
facilities in Japan, South Korea, Australia and India. We have license agreements with three licensees that
manufacture our clothing products in North America, various European countries and certain Pacific Rim
countries.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time involved in various legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our
business. We believe that none of our pending litigation will, individually or in the aggregate, have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows or results of operation.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock (the “Common Stock™) is quoted on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“XRM”. On February 27, 2006, there were approximately 28 stockholders of record of our Common Stock and
the closing price of our Common Stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange was $9.40 per share. The
following table lists the high and low sales prices for our Common Stock for the periods indicated.

m High Low
2005

FIISUQUATTET « . oot ettt ettt et ettt e et ettt e e $ NJA $ N/A
Second quarter (after completion of initial public offering on May 19, 2005) . . . .. 12.18 11.25
Third quarter . ... .. 12.70 11.41
Fourth quarter .. ... ... .. . 11.74 6.50

On August 11, 2005, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.105 per share of common stock
that was paid on September 15, 2005 to shareholders of record at the close of business on September 2, 2005.
This amount represents a prorated quarterly dividend for the period from the closing of our initial public offering
on May 19, 2005 through June 30, 2005.

On November 14, 2005, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.225 per share of common
stock that was paid on December 15, 2005 to shareholders of record at the close of business on December 2,
2005.

On February 21, 2006, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.225 per share of common
stock payable on March 15, 2006 to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 3, 2006.

See Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Dividend Policy” for a discussion of our dividend policy.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Xerium Technologies, Inc. was formed in October 2002 and prior to our initial public offering and
transactions effected in connection therewith had not issued any securities other than to our former parent upon
its formation. Shortly prior to our initial public offering in May 2005, we effected a stock split of our common
stock and issued additional shares of common stock to certain of our directors and members of senior
management in exchange for their equity interests in Xerium S.A., our indirect parent prior to the initial public
offering. These issuances were made in reliance upon Rule 701 of the Securities Act, as amended, and
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, as amended, and did not involve any underwriters, underwriting discounts or
commissions, or any public offering. The persons and entities who received such securities represented their
intention to acquire these securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any
distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to share certificates issued. All recipients had adequate
access through their relationship with us to information about us. See Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Initial Public Offering.”

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2005 with respect to shares of our common stock
that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plan, the Xerium Technologies, Inc. 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2005 the only awards outstanding in respect of our common stock under our
equity compensation plans were restricted stock units The table includes information with respect to shares
subject to outstanding restricted stock units at December 31, 2005, including additional shares subject to
restricted stock units in respect of the antomatic adjustment of certain outstanding restricted stock units to reflect
additional shares in respect of cash dividends paid by us.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issnance nnder

Number of securities to ~ Weighted-average equity compensation
be issued upon exercise exercise price of plans (excluding
of outstanding options, outstanding options,  securities reflected in
warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Plan category (a) () (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by '
shareowners (1) ........................ . 1,240,082 N/A 1,259,918
Equity compensation plans not approved by
Shareowners .............ooviiiiiinnnn.. — — —
Total ............ .. ... .. ... ..., 1,240,082 N/A 1,259,918

(1) Reflects shares underlying outstanding restricted stock units at December 31, 2005.

For further information regarding restricted stock unit awards granted in 2005 under our 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan, see Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of operations data:

Netsales .. ..o i e $582,420 $582,480 $560,668 $514,945 $499,846
Costs and expenses:
Costof productssold ...................... 337,932 326,760 301,682 274,384 273,539
Selling . ....oov 70,084 68,504 67,074 60,951 59,112
General and administrative . ................ 90,130 66,986 65,220 62,541 72,129
Restructuring ............ .. ... ..., 11,958 19,533 10,971 8,497 —_
Research and development . ................. 9,563 8,819 7,093 7,783 6,539
Offeringcosts . .......... ..., — 7,429 — — —
Total operating costs and expenses ....... 519,667 498,031 452,040 414,156 411,319
Income from operations ................ ... ..... 62,753 84,449 108,628 100,789 88,527
Other income (expense): :
Interest expense, Net .. ..., (49,817) (67,235) (63,290) (60,165) (69,912)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) ................ 3,773 (4,669) (8,050) 8,443 2,080
Loss on early extinguishment of debt ......... (4,886) — (673) (36,158) (3,100)

Income before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle . ... ... 11,823 12,545 36,615 12,909 17,595
Provision for income taxes .. ............... . ... 13,917 26,641 40,423 13,539 22,367
Loss before cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle .. ...... ... ... .. L. 2,094y  (14,096) (3,808) (630) (4,772)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,

net of income tax benefit ..................... —_ —_ — — (835)
Netloss ..o $ (2,094) $(14,096) $ (3,808) $ (630) $ (5,607)
Net loss per common share . .................... $ (05 % (45 s (12 $ (02) $ (18
Cash dividends per common share . ............... $ 3% — 3% — 5 — 5 -

Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Balance sheet data (at end of period):

Cash and cash equivalents .. ................... $ 59976 $ 24,002 $ 22294 §$ 32,834 $ 13,815
Total aSSets ... ..o e 984,861 1,019,865 983,993 922,829 887,425
Seniordebt............. ... ... .. ... 637,433 601,716 611,670 611,960 446,993
Totaldebt. .. ....... .. .. . i, 649,132 827,849 823,617 796,201 748,907
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) .............. 109,346 (55,096) (64,588) (76,219) (42,124)
Cash flow data:
Net cash provided by operating activities ......... $ 54,709 $ 78,701 $106,405 $123,368 $ 92,802
Net cash used in investing activities . ............ (28,722) (36,561) (39,058) (30,856) (38,427)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing v

ACHVILIES ...t 5,626 (43,125) (82,656) (62,233) (64,915)
Other financial data:
Depreciation and amortization ................. $ 45363 $ 47,677 $ 47995 $ 47,410 $ 69,531
Capital expenditures ......................... 35,829 36,593 43,817 27,248 31,825
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The following table presents our unaudited consolidated statements of operations data for each quarter in the
two years ended December 31, 2005. The information for each of these quarters is unaudited, but has been
prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation. We believe that all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, have
been made to present fairly the unaudited quarterly results when read in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this document. These operating
results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be expected for any future period.

For the Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar, 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of operations
data:
Netsales ............. $144,585 $140,058 $145,850 $151,927 $151,838 $142,598 $142,140 $145,904
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products

sold ........... 84,538 81,970 85,254 86,170 85,863 83,019 77,887 79,391
Selling ........... 18,180 16,899 17,351 17,654 17,533 16,554 16,978 17,439
General and

administrative ... 16,924 17,613 40,997 14,596 14,691 18,113 17,990 16,192
Restructuring .. ... 373 1,077 5,332 5,176 7,238 8,402 2,811 1,082
Research and

development . ... 2,336 2,271 2,629 2,327 2,449 2,055 2,130 2,185
Offering costs .. ... — — — — 7,429 — — —

Total operating
costs and
expenses ... 122351 119,830 151,563 125,923 135,203 128,743 117,796 116,289
Income (loss) from
operations .......... 22,234 20,228 (5,713) 26,004 16,635 13,855 24,344 29,615

Other income (expense):
Interest expense,

net ............ (10,568) (10,452) (13,337) (15.460) (17,978) (16,403) (16,357) (16,497)
Foreign exchange
gain (loss) ...... (666) (609) 1,670 3,378 (5.999) (841) 471 1,700

Loss on early
extinguishment of
debt ........... — — (4,886) — — —_ — —

Income (loss) before

provision for income :
taxes .............. 11,000 9,167 (22,266) 13,922  (7,342) (3.389) 8,458 14,818

Provision (benefit) for
income taxes ........ 974 17,206 (9918) 5,655 8,010 8,202 4,003 6,426
Net income (loss) . ..... $ 10,026 $ (8,039)$(12,348) $ 8,267 $(15352)$(11,591)$ 4,455 § 8,392

Net income (loss) per
common share — basic

and diluted ......... $ 23 3 (1) % (33)% 27 % (50 % (3D$ 14 % 27
Cash dividends per
common share . . ..... $ 225% 105% — 3% — % — 3% — % — & —
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the section titled “Risk Factors,” the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related Notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a leading global manufacturer and supplier of two types of consumable products used primarily in
the production of paper—clothing and roll covers. Our operations are strategically located in the major paper-
producing regions of North America, Europe, South America and Asia-Pacific.

Our products play key roles in the formation and processing of paper along the length of a paper-making
machine. Paper producers rely on our products and services to help improve the quality of their paper,
differentiate their paper products, operate their paper-making machines more efficiently and reduce production
costs. Our products and services typically represent only a small fraction of a paper producer’s overall production
costs, yet they reduce costs by permitting the use of lower-cost raw materials and reducing energy consumption.
Paper producers must replace clothing and refurbish or replace roll covers regularly as these products wear down
during the paper production process. Our products are designed to withstand extreme temperature, chemical and
pressure conditions, and are the result of a substantial investment in research and development and highly
sophisticated manufacturing processes.

We operate in two principal business segments: clothing and roll covers. In our clothing segment, we
manufacture and sell highly engineered synthetic textile belts that transport paper as it is processed on a paper-
making machine. Clothing plays a significant role in the forming, pressing and drying stages of paper production.
Because paper-making processes and machine specifications vary widely, the clothing size, form, material and
function is selected to fit each individual paper-making machine and process. In 2005, our clothing segment
represented 66% of our net sales.

Our roll cover products provide a surface with the mechanical properties necessary to process the paper
sheet in a cost-effective manner that delivers the sheet qualities desired by the paper producer. Roll covers are
tailored to each individual paper-making machine and process, using different materials, treatments and
finishings. In addition to manufacturing and selling new roll covers, we also provide refurbishment services for
previously installed roll covers and manufacture spreader rolls. In 2005, our roll cover segment represented 34%
of our net sales.

In 2003, sales in other industrial applications outside of the paper industry, such as steel, plastics and
textiles, accounted for 10% of the net sales in each of our segments.

Industry Trends and Outlook

A primary driver for the demand for our products and services is the volume of global paper production,
which according to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, increased at a compound
annual growth rate of approximately 2.9% from 1980 to 2004. Over such period, only in 1982 and 2001 did
global production decline from the prior year, and in both 1983 and 2002 production recovered to levels higher
than the previous peak. Although global paper production has demonstrated stable growth over time, the paper
products industry has experienced cycles in profitability that are primarily driven by imbalances in supply and
demand. During the down part of these cycles, prices for paper products decline, leading to decreased
profitability for paper producers. These cycles have been caused in part by the structure of the paper industry,
which has been highly fragmented and has exhibited poor discipline in supply management. Producers have
generally focused on maximizing production, to reduce fixed costs per ton, rather than producing to meet
demand. This practice resulted in producers building inventories of paper when supply exceeded demand and
in-turn led to higher volatility in prices as they reduced these inventories.
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The most recent cyclical downturn in the paper products industry started in 2001. In anticipation of this
downturn, paper producers began in 2000 to take actions that sought to structurally improve the balance between
the supply of and demand for paper. As part of these efforts, they have shut down many older and less efficient
paper-making machines. This has been particularly true in North America and announcements by paper
producers for shutdown of paper-making machines has continued, although at a reduced level compared to 2001
through 2004. In 2005, there has been an increase in the number of announced planned shutdown of paper-
making machines in Europe, although not at the level experienced in recent years in North America. Significant
consolidation in the paper production industry over the last few years has also improved the ability of producers
to better balance supply and demand. This consolidation has given fewer paper producers more capacity, leading
to a more rational approach by industry leaders to the management of supply. World demand for paper is
expected to grow through 2020 driven by global population and economic growth. We believe that the
combination of these trends in the paper production industry, continued global economic growth and expected
increases in per capita paper consumption in less developed regions of the world should continue to drive
increased paper production levels and consequently higher spending on consumable products used in the paper-
making process and that we are well positioned to take advantage of these trends.

Sales and Expenses
Sales in both our clothing and roll covers segments are primarily driven by the following factors:
*  The volume of worldwide paper production;

» Advances in the technology of our products, which can provide value to our customers by improving the
efficiency of paper-making machines; and

*  Our ability to provide products and services which reduce paper-making machine downtime, while at
the same time allowing the manufacture of high quality paper products.

Sales in our roll covers segment include our mechanical services business. We have expanded this business
in response to demand from paper producers that we perform work on the internal mechanisms of a roll while we
refurbish or replace a roll cover. In our clothing segment, a small portion of our business has been conducted
pursuant to consignment arrangements under which we do not recognize a sale of a product to a customer until
the customer placed the product into use, which typically occurs some period after the product is shipped to the
customer or to a warehouse location near the customer’s facility. Recently, we have been reducing the number of
consignment arrangements and increasing the use of standard terms of sale under which we recognize a sale upon
product shipment. We expect this trend to continue.

Key factors affecting our costs include:

*  Our total sales volume (which directly impacts the level of our cost of products sold and production
capacity utilization);
*  The amount of our property and equipment depreciation; and

¢ The level of our research and development spending.

The level of our cost of products sold is primarily attributable to labor costs, raw material costs, product
shipping costs, plant utilization and depreciation, with labor costs constituting the largest component.

The amount of depreciation on our property and equipment reflects the level of our capital expenditures. We
invest in facilities and equipment that enable innovative product development and improve production efficiency
and costs. Recent examples of capital spending for such purposes include faster weaving looms and seaming
machines with accurate electronic controls, automated compound mixing equipment and computer-controlled
lathes and mills.

The level of research and development spending is driven by market demand for technology enhancements,
including both specific customer needs and general market requirements, as well as by our own analysis of
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applied technology opportunities. With the exception of purchases of equipment and similar capital items used in
our research and development activities, all research and development is expensed as incurred. Research and
development expenses were $9.6 million, $8.8 million and $7.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Foreign Exchange

We have a geographically diverse customer base. In 2005, approximately 40% of our sales were in North
America, 36% were in Europe, 9% were in South America, 13% were in Asia-Pacific and 2% were in the rest of
the world.

A substantial portion of our sales is denominated in Euros or other currencies. As a result, changes in the
relative values of US Dollars, Euros and other currencies affect our reported levels of revenues and profitability
as the results are translated into US Dollars for reporting purposes. In particular, increases in the value of the US
Dollar relative to the value of the Euro and these other currencies adversely impact our levels of revenue and
profitability because the translation of a certain number of Euros or units of such other currencies into US dollars
for financial reporting purposes will represent fewer US Dollars.

For certain transactions, our sales are denominated in US Dollars or Euros but all or a substantial portion of
the associated costs are denominated in a different currency. As a result, changes in the relative values of US
Dollars, Euros and other currencies can affect the level of the profitability of these transactions. The largest
proportion of such transactions consist of transactions in which the sales are denominated in US Dollars and all
or a substantial portion of the associated costs are denominated in Euros or other currencies.

Currency fluctuations have a greater proportionate effect on the level of our net sales than on the level of
our income (loss) from operations. For example, in 2005 as compared to 2004, the change in the value of the US
Dollar against the currencies we conduct our business in resulted in currency translation increases in net sales
and income from operations of $13.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Although the 2003 results reflect a
period in which the value of the US Dollar decreased as compared to 2004, we would expect a similar but
opposite effect in a period in which the value of the US Dollar increases. For any period in which the value of the
US Dollar changes relative to other currencies, we would expect our income (loss) from operations to be
proportionately affected less than our net sales.

During 2005, we conducted business in 9 foreign currencies. The following table provides the average
exchange rate in 2005 and 2004 of the US Dollar against each of the five foreign currencies in which we conduct
the largest portion of our operations, and indicates the percentage of our net sales in 2005 and 2004 denominated
in each such foreign currency.

Average exchange rate of the

Currency US Dollar in 2005

Average exchange rate of the
US Dollar in 2004

$1.24 = 1 Euro
$0.83 = 1 Canadian Dollar
$0.41 = 1 Brazilian Real

$1.24 = 1 Euro
$0.77 = 1 Canadian Dollar
$0.34 = 1 Brazilian Real

Australian Dollar . ............ $0.76 = 1 Australian Dollar  $0.74 = 1 Australian Dollar
BritishPound ................ $1.82 = 1 British Pound $1.83 = 1 British Pound
Percentage of 2005 Percentage of 2004
net sales denominated net sales denominated
Currency in such currency in such currency

Buro....................... 41.4% 42.3%
Canadian Dollar ............. 9.1 8.5
BrazilianReal ............... 7.2 7.1
Australian Dollar ... .......... 47 49
BritishPound ................ 3.6 34
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To mitigate the risk of transactions in which a sale is made in one currency and associated costs are
denominated in a different currency, we utilize forward currency contracts in certain circumstances to lock in
exchange rates with the objective that the gain or loss on the forward contracts will approximate the loss or gain
that results from the transaction or transactions being hedged. We determine whether to enter into hedging
arrangements based upon the size of the underlying transaction or transactions, an assessment of the risk of
adverse movements in the applicable currencies and the availability of a cost effective hedge strategy. To the
extent we do not engage in hedging or such hedging is not effective, changes in the relative value of currencies
can affect our profitability.

Cost Reduction Programs

An important part of our strategy is to seek to reduce our overall costs and improve our competitiveness. As
a part of this effort, we have engaged in a series of cost reduction programs since 2002, which were designed to
improve the cost structure of our operations in North America, South America and Europe, in response to
changing market conditions. These cost reduction programs include headcount reductions throughout the world
as well as plant closures that have rationalized production among our facilities to better enable us to meet
customer demands. All costs of these programs are accounted for as restructuring expenses. We have
substantially completed the major restructuring programs that have already been initiated both in roll covers and
clothing.

Our cost reduction efforts since 2002 include the closing of eight manufacturing facilities and the movement
of certain production from two other facilities. Four facilities were closed in the clothing segment, of which three
were in North America and one was in the United Kingdom and we closed four facilities in the rolls segment, of
which three were in North America and one was in the United Kingdom. Additionally, from 2002 to 2005, we
eliminated approximately 350 positions in connection with our cost reduction efforts. As a result of these actions,
offset by other changes in workforce, our headcount decreased by approximately 235 positions during that
period. These cost reduction efforts since 2002 eliminated approximately $8.4 million in cash costs that we
would have otherwise incurred in 2004 as compared to our cost structure in 2003, and an additional $10.7 million
in cash costs that would have otherwise incurred in 2005 as compared to our cost structure in 2004.

There can be no assurance that our cost reduction programs will be successful. While our cost reduction
programs are designed to help mitigate the effect of increases in our operating costs, we may experience sales or
cost changes from period to period which have a greater effect on the level of our profitability than savings
derived from our cost reduction programs.
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Results of Operations

The tables that follow set forth for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 certain consolidated operating results and the percentage of net sales they represent:

Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(in millions)

NEtSAlES . ..ottt $582.4 $582.5 $560.7
Costof products sold .. ... . e 3379 3268 3017
SelliNg EXPENSES . . .o v ottt e e e 70.1 68.5 67.1
General and administrative 8XPenses . . . ...ttt t it e 90.1 67.0 65.2
ReStructuring EXpenses . . . . ..ottt ettt e e e 12.0 195 11.0
Research and developmentexpenses . ............ . i 9.6 8.8 7.1
OFfering COSLS . .. oottt — 7.5 —
Income from Operations . .. ... ... .. ..ot ittt 62.7 844 108.6
Interest expense, Net . ... ... 49.8) (67.2) (63.2)
Foreign exchange gain (10S8) .......... ... i it 38 4.7 (8.1)
Loss on early extinguishmentof debt . ....... ... .. ... .. ... ... .. ... .. ..., “4.9) — 0.7
Income before provision forincometaxes ......... ... ... i, 11.8 12.5 36.6
Provision for inCOME taXeS . . . ..ottt e e 13.9 26.6 404
Nt 0SS .« oottt e $ 2D $141D $ (3.8)
Percentage of Net Sales
Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Nt sales . ..o 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costof products sold .. ... ... 58.0 56.1 538
SelliNg EXPENSES . . o .\ttt et 12.0 11.8 12.0
General and administrative eXPenses . . ...ttt it e 15.5 11.5 11.6
ReStuCtUring €XPenses . . . . ..ottt e e 21 33 2.0
Research and development Xpenses .. .............ovirineiiiinanneenn.. 1.6 1.5 1.3
COffering COSES ... — 1.3 —
Income from operations ................ ... iia... P 10.8 14.5 19.3
Interest EXPense, NEL . . . ..ottt ettt e e (8.6) (11.5) (11.3)
Foreign exchange gain (10Ss) ... .. .. .. 0.6 (0.8) (1.4)
Loss on early extinguishmentofdebt ....... ... ... .. .. ... .. . (0.8) — 0.
Income before provision forincome taxes ..ot 2.0 22 6.5
Provision for inCOmMe taxes . . . .. ...ttt 24 4.6 72
Nt 0SS . o 0H% 2H% O.D%

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004.

Net Sales. Net sales for 2005 remained essentially constant at $582.4 million from $582.5 million for 2004.
In 2005, 66% of our net sales were in our clothing segment and 34% were in our roll cover segment.

In our clothing segment, net sales for 2005 increased by $5.2 million, or 1.4%, to $383.1 million from
$377.9 million for 2004. The increase is attributable to currency gains of $11.2 million related to the translation
of sales made in currencies other than the US Dollar to US Dollars for financial reporting purposes. These
translation gains were partially offset by the $7.5 million impact of the currency effect on pricing relating to sales
prices indexed in US Dollars by certain non-U.S. operations as compared to 2004. Overall pricing levels were
generally unchanged for 2005 as compared with 2004.
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In our roll covers segment, net sales for 2005 decreased by $5.3 million, or 2.6%, to $199.3 million from
$204.6 million for 2004. The decrease is due to decreased sales of $7.2 million resulting from weak market
conditions in Europe, partially offset by currency gains of $2.0 million related to the translation of sales made in
currencies other than the US Dollar to US Dollars for financial reporting purposes. Overall pricing levels were
generally unchanged for 2005 as compared with 2004.

Cost of Products Sold. Cost of products sold for 2005 increased $11.1 million, or 3.4%, to $337.9 million
from $326.8 million for 2004.

In our clothing segment, cost of products sold increased by $10.3 million, or 4.8%, to $226.0 million from
$215.7 million for 2004. This increase was primarily due to adverse currency translation effects of $8.8 million
and $6.4 million incurred in connection with the transition of production operations from a closed facility to
another facility. These increases were partially offset by the impact of a lower cost structure during 2005, as
compared to our cost structure for 2004, of $5.2 million as a result of our cost reduction programs.

In our roll covers segment, cost of products sold increased by $0.8 million, or 0.7%, to $111.9 million from
$111.1 million for 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to unfavorable currency translation effects of
$0.7 million and to an unfavorable shift in the mix of our product sales to lower margin products. The
unfavorable product mix shift occurred globally but is primarily related to a shift in North America from our
more profitable rubber covers to other types of covers and increased sales in mechanical services and spreader
rolls, which carry lower margins. This mix effect and the currency translation effects were partially offset by the
impact of a lower cost structure during 2005, as compared to our cost structure for 2004, of $2.9 million as a
result of our cost reduction programs.

Selling Expenses. For 2005, selling expenses increased by $1.6 million, or 2.3%, to $70.1 million from
$68.5 million for 2004. This increase was due primarily to higher commissions and an increased sales force
headcount in North and South America in an effort to increase sales through expanded sales coverage, to enhance
the introduction of new products and to address shifting markets. Selling expenses also increased in 2005 as
compared to 2004 as a result of unfavorable currency translation effects of $1.1 million. Partially offsetting these
increases was the impact of a lower cost structure during 2005, as compared to our cost structure for 2004, of
$1.4 million as a result of our cost reduction programs.

General and Administrative Expenses. For 2005, general and administrative expenses increased by
$23.1 million, or 34.5%, to $90.1 million from $67.0 million for 2004. The increase was primarily due to
expenses incurred in connection with the closing of our initial public offering on May 19, 2005 and related
transactions which included (i) $15.5 million of compensation expense related to the vesting of stock options and
restricted stock in connection with the offering, (ii) $4.2 million of special one-time cash payments in connection
with the adoption of our new management incentive compensation plans, (iii) $2.7 million of cash transaction
bonuses paid to management and (iv} $0.9 million of land transfer taxes related to certain of our subsidiaries in
connection with the offering. Additionally, general and administrative expenses increased by: (i) $4.5 million of
costs to support the requirements of being a public company, including costs related to preparing to comply with
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, (ii) $1.7 million of costs related to the legal
reorganization of our Brazilian subsidiaries, (iii) $1.8 million of compensation expense incurred as a result of
restricted stock units granted under our 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, (iv) decreased royalty income of $1.6 million
primarily as a result of a one-time catch up payment in 2004 that did not recur in 2005 and (v) unfavorable
currency effects of $1.6 million. These increases were partially offset by (i) impact of a lower cost structure
during 2005 as compared to our cost structure for 2004 of $1.9 million as a result of our cost reduction programs,
(ii) lower management incentive compensation of $2.2 million (iii) the forgiveness of loans of $4.1 million
during 2004, which did not recur during 2005 and (iv) a decrease of $2.9 million in our environmental expense in
2005 as compared to 2004.

Restructuring Expenses. For 2005, restructuring expenses decreased by $7.5 million, or 38.5%, to $12.0
million from $19.5 million during 2004. These expenses relate to our long-term strategy to reduce production
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costs and improve long-term competitiveness as described above under “—Cost Reduction Programs.” For 2005,
restructuring expenses consist of severance, facility, and asset impairment costs of $6.1 million, $5.7 million, and
$0.2 million, respectively. For 2004, restructuring expenses consist of severance, facility, and asset impairment
costs of $3.8 million, $5.4 million, and $10.3 million, respectively.

Research and Development Expenses. For 2003, research and development expenses increased by $0.8
million, or 9.1%, to $9.6 million from $8.8 million for 2004. The increase is due to the development and launch
costs of polyurethane roll cover products with enhanced performance characteristics, which we introduced in the
third quarter of 2005.

Interest Expense, Net. Net interest expense for 2005 decreased by $17.4 million, or 25.9%, to $49.8 million
from $67.2 million for 2004. The decrease is primarily attributable to lower average debt balances outstanding
during 2005 as compared with 2004, as a result of the refinancing that occurred in connection with our initial
public offering on May 19, 2005, and to lower interest rates on our current credit facility as compared to our debt
facilities prior to the initial public offering. Additionally, higher interest rates on hedge contracts that expired in
2004 contributed to the decrease in net interest expense for 2005 as compared with 2004.

Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss). For 2005, we had a foreign exchange gain of $3.8 million compared to a
foreign exchange loss of $4.7 million for 2004. This $8.5 million difference was primarily attributable to the
manner in which swings in the value of the US Dollar as compared to other currencies, primarily the Euro,
affected certain intercompany transactions and, up until May 19, 2005, the reported amount of our external debt .
Under our previously existing senior and mezzanine debt facilities, certain of our subsidiaries had debt
denominated in currencies other than their functional currency and, as a result, the changes in relative exchange
rates created a foreign exchange gain or loss. Under our current credit facility, the majority of amounts borrowed
are denominated in the functional currency of the borrowing subsidiary, which we expect will mitigate the
amount of future foreign exchange gain or loss related to external debt. Foreign exchange gains and losses since
May 19, 2005 resulted primarily from intercompany activity.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt. In connection with the completion of our initial public offering on
May 19, 2005, we repaid $752.5 million of principal and interest on previously existing senior bank debt,
mezzanine bank debt and certain non-interest-bearing shareholder notes. The loss on early extinguishment of
debt includes the write-off of $4.9 million of unamortized deferred financing costs related to the debt that was
repaid.

Provision for Income Taxes. For 2005 and 2004, we recognized a provision for income taxes of $13.9
million and $26.6 million, respectively. Our effective tax rate was 118% for 2005 as compared with 212% for
2004. The effective tax rate exceeds the statutory tax rate of 35% primarily due to the recording of valuation
allowances in certain jurisdictions primarily as a result of the uncertainty surrounding the future utilization of net
operating loss carryforwards.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003.

Net Sales. Net sales for 2004 increased by $21.8 million, or 3.9%, to $582.5 million from $560.7 million for
2003. In 2004, 65% of our net sales were in our clothing segment and 35% in our roll cover segment.

In our clothing segment, net sales for 2004 increased by $15.8 million, or 4.4%, to $377.9 million from
$362.1 million for 2003. This improvement resulted from $24.4 million in increases attributable to the translation
of sales made in currencies other than the US Dollar to US Dollars for financial reporting purposes. These
currency gains were partially offset by decreased sales of certain products, including a $4.4 million decrease in
sales of dewatering equipment, primarily due to a large one-time sale in 2003.

In our roll covers segment, net sales for 2004 increased by $6.0 million, or 3.0%, to $204.6 million from
$198.6 million for 2003. This improvement resulted from $10.2 million in currency translation gains, partially
offset by reduced sales resulting from the consolidation of paper-making facilities in North America, which led
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to a reduction in the number of paper-making machines in operation and therefore reduced the demand for our
products and services.

Cost of Products Sold. Cost of products sold in 2004 increased by $25.1 million, or 8.3%, to $326.8 million
from $301.7 million for 2003.

In our clothing segment, cost of products sold increased by $17.5 million, or 8.8%, to $215.7 million for
2004 from $198.2 million for 2003. The increase was primarily due to currency translation effects of $16.0
million, partially offset by the impact of a lower cost structure during 2004 as compared to our cost structure for
2003 of approximately $5.0 million as a result of our cost reduction programs. Additionally, reduced costs of
approximately $2.0 million associated with the lower sales of dewatering equipment in 2004 were offset by
certain cost increases, including higher costs associated with an increase in unit sales, normal wage and benefit
increases of approximately $2.0 million, and an increase in costs attributable to our restructuring activities,
including an inventory write-down of approximately $1.8 million and increases in overtime and production
inefficiencies of approximately $1.5 million.

In our roll covers segment, cost of products sold increased by $7.6 million, or 7.3%, to $111.1 million for
2004 from $103.5 million for 2003. This increase was primarily attributable to currency translation effects of
$5.9 million, partially offset by the impact of a lower cost structure during 2004 as compared to our cost structure
for 2003 of approximately $2.0 million as a result of our cost reduction programs. These savings were offset by
certain cost increases, including normal wage and benefit increases of approximately $1.0 million, raw material
cost increases (including costs of petroleum-based products) of more than $1.0 million and increased warranty
claims of approximately $1.2 million related primarily to certain defective roll covers shipped in 2003.

Selling Expenses. For 2004, selling expenses increased by $1.4 million, or 2.1%, to $68.5 million from
$67.1 million for 2003. This increase was primarily due to currency translation effects and increases in new
product introduction expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses. For 2004, general and administrative expenses increased by $1.8
million, or 2.8%, to $67.0 million from $65.2 million for 2003. This increase was due to forgiveness of stock
purchase loans of $4.1 million (including related income tax gross-up thereon), currency translation effects of
$4.2 million, environmental provision of $3.8 million related to existing contamination conditions recently
identified at two of our facilities and approximately $1.0 million of costs related to the legal reorganization of a
portion of our international operations. In addition, we had a $1.8 million gain on real property sales in 2003,
which reduced the reported amount of our general and administrative expenses in 2003 but did not recur in 2004.
Partially offsetting these increases were lower management incentive compensation of $5.2 million, $2.6 million
of increased royalty income and the impact of a lower cost structure during 2004 as compared to our cost
structure for 2003 of approximately $1.0 million as a result of our cost reduction programs. Approximately $1.3
million of the $2.6 million increase in royalty income represents a one-time catch-up payment of unexpected
prior year royalty income. In addition, in 2003 we incurred $2.5 million of management bonuses associated with
a refinancing that did not recur in 2004.

Restructuring Expenses. For 2004, restructuring expenses increased by $8.5 million, or 77.3%, to $19.5
million from $11.0 million for 2003 as a result of our strategy to reduce our overall costs and improve our
competitiveness, as described above under “—Cost Reduction Programs.” The $8.5 million increase during 2004
consists primarily of an increase in asset impairments of $5.5 million and severance and facility shut-down costs
of $3.0 million.

Research and Development Expenses. For 2004, research and development expenses increased by $1.7
million, or 23.9%, to $8.8 million from $7.1 million for 2003. This increase was primarily due to higher salaries
and material costs.

Offering Costs. During 2004, we expensed $7.5 million of costs specifically associated with our previously
contemplated offering of income deposit securities.
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Interest Expense, Net. Net interest expense for 2004 increased by $4.0 million, or 6.3%, to $67.2 million
from $63.2 million for 2003. The increase in net interest expense was mainly attributable to currency translation
effects of $3.3 million.

Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss). We had a foreign exchange loss of $4.7 million and $8.1 million for 2004
and 2003, respectively. This $3.4 million difference was primarily attributable to the manner in which swings in
the value of the US Dollar as compared to the Euro affect the reported amount of our indebtedness. Certain of our
subsidiaries whose functional currency is US Dollars had debt denominated in Euros. Similarly, certain of our
subsidiaries whose functional currency is Euros had debt denominated in US Dollars. As a result, the stated
amount of indebtedness of such subsidiaries changed based on movements in the exchange rate between US
Dollars and Euros. To the extent that exchange rate movements caused an increase in the stated amount of such
indebtedness, we recorded a foreign exchange loss, and to the extent that exchange rate movements caused a
decrease in the stated amount of such indebtedness, we recorded a foreign exchange gain.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt. The loss on early extinguishment of debt for 2003 of $0.7 million
was the result of a senior debt refinancing that occurred in 2003.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 212% for 2004 as compared with 110% for 2003.
The effective tax rate exceeds the statutory tax rate of 35% primarily due to the recording of valuation
allowances in certain jurisdictions primarily as a result of the uncertainty surrounding the future utilization of net
operating loss carryforwards.

Dividend Policy

Effective upon completion of the initial public offering of our common stock in May, 2005 our Board of
Directors adopted a dividend policy that reflects our judgment that our stockholders would be better served if we
distributed to them a substantial portion of the excess cash generated by our business rather than reinvesting it in
our business. Under this policy, we intend to distribute a substantial portion of the cash generated by our business
in excess of operating needs, reserves for contingencies, interest and principal payments on indebtedness, capital
expenditures, restructuring expenses and tax payments as regular quarterly dividends to the holders of our
common stock, up to an annual dividend rate of $.90 per share, rather than retaining such cash for other purposes
such as significant acquisitions or to pursue growth opportunities requiring capital expenditures or other
investments significantly beyond our current expectations. As more fully described in “Risk Factors” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, shareholders may not receive any dividends as a result of the following factors:

* we are not obligated to pay dividends;
* our credit facility limits the amount of dividends we are permitted to pay;

» our credit facility contains restrictive covenants that will require us to improve our performance over
time to remain in compliance therewith;

¢ our board of directors may modify or revoke our dividend policy;

» even if our dividend policy is not modified or revoked, our board of directors could decide to reduce
dividends or not to pay dividends at all, at any time and for any reason;

» our stockholders have no contractual or other legal right to dividends;

e we may not have enough cash to pay dividends due to changes to our operating earnings, working
capital requirements and anticipated cash needs; and

« our foreign subsidiaries may be subject to legal restrictions that prevent them from distributing cash to
us to enable the payment of dividends.

Following December 31, 2006, our credit facility limits the payment of dividends in any fiscal quarter to an
amount that, when added to the amount of dividends paid in the three fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to
such fiscal quarter, does not exceed 75% of our pre-dividend free cash flow (as defined in our credit facility) for
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the four fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to such fiscal quarter. See “— Credit Facility” below. Giving pro
forma effect to our initial public offering and the other related transactions, including our credit facility
established in connection with the offering, as amended in February 2006, and the legal reorganization of a
portion of our international operations completed in 2005 as if such transactions had been consummated
immediately prior to January 1, 2005, we would have generated $52.7 million of pre-dividend free cash flow for
the 2005 fiscal year. If the credit facility restriction based upon pre-dividend free cash flow were applicable for
2005, this level of pre-dividend free cash flow would permit maximum dividend payments in respect of any
consecutive four fiscal quarter period of $39.5 million, which is greater than the approximately $39.4 million
necessary to pay dividends at a $.90 per share annual rate based upon 43,725,093 shares of common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2005. We expect that increased expenditures in 2006 for capital investment (not
including additional capital expenditures of up to $8.4 million to expand press felt production capacity in Brazil
that we expect to fund out of cash on hand at December 31, 2005) and payments of withholding taxes in respect
of retained common stock relating to equity incentive awards, as compared to 2005, will be offset by lower cash
restructuring costs in 2006 as compared to 2005. The amount of our cash income tax costs in 2006 will be largely
dependent on the geographies in which our income for 2006 is earned, and therefore if our Adjusted EBITDA for
2006 were at the same level as 2005, $155.5 million, cash income taxes for 2006 could be higher or lower than in
2005. Accordingly, our credit facility could prohibit us from paying dividends at a $0.90 per share annual rate
when the pre-dividend free cash flow limitation on dividends applies if our financial performance does not
improve. If necessary to enable us to pay dividends in accordance with our dividend policy, we would consider
reducing our planned capital expenditures for 2006 to a level that would not adversely affect our ability to
execute on our business plan in the near term. In addition, based upon our expected cash expenditures in 2006
(not including the additional capital expenditures of up to $8.4 million to expand press felt in Brazil described
above and a voluntary repayment of our senior debt in the amount of $5 million made in February 2006 out of
cash on hand at December 31, 2005) and depending on the timing of those expenditures, in order to pay
dividends at a $.90 per share annual rate out of cash flow from operations, we may need to achieve financial
performance at above 2005 Adjusted EBITDA levels. If our cash flow from operations are not sufficient to fund
dividends, we would either need to reduce our dividend or, so long as permitted to do so under our credit facility,
fund a portion of our dividends with cash on hand or borrowings under our credit facility or from other sources.

Under Delaware law, we can only pay dividends either out of “surplus™ (which is defined as total assets at
fair market value minus total liabilities, minus statutory capital) or out of current or the immediately preceding
year’s earnings. We historically have not had sufficient earnings to pay dividends at the level contemplated by
our dividend policy. We anticipate that we will not have sufficient earnings to pay dividends and therefore expect
that we will pay dividends out of surplus. Our board of directors will seek periodically to assure itself that we
have sufficient surplus to pay dividends before actually declaring any dividends. Further, our board of directors
may seek opinions from outside valuation firms to the effect that there is sufficient surplus to pay dividends, and
such opinions may not be forthcoming. If we sought and were not able to obtain such an opinion, we likely
would not be able to declare and pay dividends. For a description of the restrictions imposed on our ability to pay
dividends by our current credit facility, see “Credit Agreement” below.

On August 11, 2005, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.105 per share of common stock
payable on September 15, 2005 to shareholders of record at the close of business on September 2, 2005. This
amount represents a prorated quarterly dividend for the period from the closing of our initial public offering on
May 19, 2005 through June 30, 2005.

On November 14, 2005, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.225 per share of common
stock payable on December 15, 2005 to shareholders of record at the close of business on December 2, 2005.

On February 21, 2006, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.225 per share of common
stock payable on March 15, 2006 to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 3, 2006.
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We believe that our dividend policy will limit, but not preclude, our ability to pursue growth. If we pay
dividends at the level currently anticipated under our dividend policy, we expect that we would need additional
financing to fund significant acquisitions or to pursue growth opportunities requiring capital expenditures or
other investments significantly beyond our current expectations. However, we intend to allocate sufficient cash to
pursue growth opportunities that do not require significant investment beyond our current expectations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal liquidity requirements are for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service and to pay
dividends. We expect to fund our liquidity requirements primarily with cash generated from operations and, to
the extent necessary, through borrowings under our credit facility.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $54.7 million, $78.7 million and $106.4 million in 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The $24.0 million decline in cash flow from operating activities in 2005 as compared to
2004 is primarily attributable to activities related to our initial public offering of $20.7 million. The $27.7 million
decline in cash flow from operating activities in 2004 as compared to 2003 reflects a decline in cash earnings of
approximately $32.0 million, partially offset by approximately $4.3 million in cash provided by reduced net
investment in working capital and certain other items. Contributing to the reduction in cash from operating
activities in 2004 were increased cash restructuring expenses of $5.7 million and the expensing of $5.8 million of
cash costs related to our previously contemplated offering of income deposit securities.

Net cash used in investing activities was $28.7 million, $36.6 million and $39.1 million for 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The decrease in cash used in investing activities in 2005 as compared to 2004 was related to
an increase in proceeds from the disposal of assets of $6.1 million during 2005, of which $4.5 million resulted
from the sale of our Wake Forest facility in the first quarter of 2005. The decrease in cash used in investing
activities in 2004 as compared to 2003 was related principally to a decrease in capital expenditures of $7.2
million partially offset by a decrease of $3.4 million in proceeds from the disposal of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $5.6 million in 2005 and net cash used in financing activities
was $43.1 million and $82.7 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase of $48.7 million from 2004 is
primarily the result of our initial public offering, which occurred on May 19, 2005, partially offset by cash
dividend payments of $14.4 million. See “Initial Public Offering” below for additional discussion. The $39.6
million decrease in cash flows used in financing activities during 2004 as compared to 2003 was principally
comprised of $13.9 million of payments related to refinancing activities in 2003, lower net payments on debt of
$27.5 million, partially offset by payments of initial public offering costs.

As of December 31, 2005, there was a $637.4 million balance of term loans outstanding under our senior
credit facility. The decrease from the $650 million issued on May 19, 2005 was due to changes in currency
exchange rates impacting debt denominated in currencies other than the US Dollar and, as required under the
term loan, to the quarterly principal payment of $1.6 million during the third and fourth quarters of 2005. In
addition, we had $66.7 million available for borrowing under our current revolving lines of credit, including the
revolving credit facility under our senior credit facility and lines of credit in various foreign countries that are
used to facilitate local short-term operating needs, of which an aggregate of $9.5 million was outstanding as of
December 31, 2005.

We had cash and cash equivalents of $60.0 million, $24.0 million and $22.3 million at December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Out of the cash on hand at December 31, 2005, we made a voluntary repayment of
senior debt in February 2006 in the amount of $5 million and expect to fund capital expenditures for press felt
production capacity in Brazil of up to $8.4 million in 2006 and up to $8.2 million in 2007. See “—Capital
Expenditures” below.

Capital Expenditures

We use the term “capital expenditures” to refer to costs incurred to purchase property and equipment. The
majority of our capital expenditures relate to purchases of machinery and equipment used in the manufacturing of
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our products. Capital expenditures were funded from net cash provided by operating activities and borrowings
under our credit facility.

During 2005, we had capital expenditures of $35.8 million consisting of approximately $23.2 million of
growth capital expenditures and approximately $12.6 million of maintenance capital expenditures. Growth
capital expenditures consist of items that are intended to increase the manufacturing, production and/or
distribution capacity or efficiencies of our operations in conjunction with the execution of our business strategies.
Maintenance capital expenditures are designed to sustain the current capacity or efficiency of our operations and
include items relating to the renovation of existing manufacturing or service facilities, the purchase of machinery
and equipment for existing manufacturing or service facilities and safety and environmental needs.

During 2004, we had capital expenditures of $36.6 million consisting of approximately $19.4 million of
growth capital expenditures, including $8.0 million of expenditures resulting from restructuring under our cost
reduction programs, and approximately $17.2 million of maintenance capital expenditures

During 2003, we had capital expenditures of $43.8 million consisting of approximately $21.4 million of
growth capital expenditures and approximately $22.4 million of maintenance capital expenditures. Our growth
capital expenditures in 2003 included $7.6 million related to the completion of specific cost reduction programs.

See “Credit Facility” below for a discussion on the restrictions imposed on our ability to make capital
expenditures by our credit facility. We estimate that we will have capital expenditure requirements of
approximately $40 million per year, on average, for the next several years, not including additional capital
expenditures of up to $8.4 million in 2006 and $8.2 million in 2007 that we are permitted to make, subject to
other provisions of the credit facility, in those years to expand press felt production capacity in Brazil. We expect
to fund these capital expenditures for press felt production capacity expansion in Brazil out of cash on hand at
December 31, 2005. Of the $40 million, we expect that we will spend, on average, approximately $20 million per
year on maintenance capital expenditures and approximately $20 million per year on growth capital
expenditures. If necessary to enable us to pay dividends in accordance with our dividend policy, we would
consider reducing our planned capital expenditures for 2006 to a level that would not adversely affect our ability
to execute on our business plan in the near term. See “—Dividend Policy”.

Initial Public Offering

On May 19, 2005 we completed our initial public offering, with a related debt refinancing, and a
reorganization. Prior to the offering, Xerium Technologies, Inc. was an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xerium S.A.; subsequent to the offering, we directly or indirectly hold all of the operating subsidiaries and
related holding companies of the former corporate group of Xerium S.A., excluding the former parent, Xerium
S.A., and two holding company subsidiaries of Xerium S.A., Xerium 2 S.A. and Xerium 3 S.A. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements for all periods presented reflect the operations of Xerium
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries after the effect of this reorganization.

Prior to the offering, Xerium Technologies, Inc. had outstanding one share of $.01 par value common stock
that was held by Xerium 3 S.A. In connection with the offering, we effected a 31,013,482-for-1 stock split of this
common stock and accordingly, all share and per share amounts related to common stock included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been presented as if this stock split had
occurred as of the earliest period presented.

In connection with the offering, Xerium Technologies, Inc. issued 13,399,233 shares of common stock at a
public offering price of $12 per share and entered into a $750 million credit facility agreement, under which $650
million was borrowed in connection with the offering and which has a seven year maturity. In connection with
the offering, we repaid $752.5 million of principal and interest on the previously existing senior bank debt,
mezzanine bank debt and certain non-interest bearing shareholder notes, as well as $1.4 million of contractual
payments under various rate swap agreements which were used to hedge the floating rate senior and mezzanine
debt. We wrote off $4.9 million of deferred financing costs related to the repayment of this debt as of May 19,
2005, which is classified as loss on early extinguishment of debt in the accompanying statements of operations.
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Costs related to our reorganization, debt recapitalization and the offering include the following:

*  $41.4 million of fees and expenses including (i) $10.1 million to underwriters (charged against paid-in
capital), (ii) $13.1 million to arrangers and lenders (capitalized as deferred financing costs) and
(ii1) $18.2 million of other fees and expenses (including $10.0 million related to the offering and
charged against paid-in capital, $6.9 million related to the debt recapitalization and capitalized as
deferred financing costs and $1.3 million charged to interest expense related to contractual payments
under various rate swap agreements which were used to hedge the floating rate of previously existing
senior and mezzanine debt),

*  $15.5 million of non-cash compensation expense related to the vesting of stock options and restricted
stock in connection with the offering charged to general and administrative expense;

*  $2.7 million in compensation expense for the portion of cash transaction bonuses that were paid to
members of our management team in connection with the offering charged to general and administrative
expense.

In addition, Xerium Technologies, Inc. distributed $7.4 million to Xerium 3 S.A. to reimburse Xerium 3
S.A. for certain pre-closing liabilities and $1.2 million to Xerium 3 S.A. to fund certain expenses expected to be
incurred by Xerium 3 S.A. following the offering.

Prior to the offering, we had outstanding $39.6 million of non-interest bearing loans. Upon the closing of the
offering, we repaid $1.2 million of these loans with cash; the remaining $38.4 million was repaid by Xerium S.A.
with an obligation to deliver shares of Xerium Technologies, Inc. This repayment with shares is considered to be
a capital contribution to Xerium Technologies, Inc.

In connection with the offering, directors and members of our senior management who owned common
stock of Xerium S.A. or held options to purchase common stock of Xerium S.A. transferred their equity interests
in Xerium S.A. to Xerium Technologies, Inc. in exchange for 1,842,546 shares of common stock of Xerium
Technologies, Inc. We used the shares received in this exchange to redeem 1,842,546 shares of our common
stock from Xerium 3 S.A.

Additionally, Xerium Technologies, Inc. received 283,117 shares of its common stock from Xerium S.A.,
which represented Xerium S.A. shares held by a subsidiary of Xerium Technologies, Inc. that were not allocated
to the issuance of shares related to stock options that were exercised in connection with the offering. These
shares were subsequently retired. In addition, $4.6 million of the offering proceeds were used to purchase
404,505 shares of common stock from certain directors and members of senior management. All such shares
were retired by the Company in connection with the offering.

Upon completion of the offering, the total amount of our authorized capital stock consisted of 150,000,000
shares of $.01 par value common stock and 1,000,000 shares of $.01 par value preferred stock, of which
43,725,093 shares of common stock were outstanding and no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.

Following the completion of our initial public offering, we incurred additional annual administrative costs
associated with being a public company. Approximately $5.1 million of such costs were incurred in 2005.

Credit Facility

Upon the completion of the initial public of offering of our common stock on May 19, 2005 we and certain
of our subsidiaries entered into a senior secured credit facility. Our credit facility provides for a $50 million
senior secured revolving credit facility and a term loan in a total principal amount of $650 million. In December
2005 the funding of a legal reorganization of a portion of our international operations was completed and $50
million of our previous $100 million revolving credit facility was canceled.

On February 8, 2006, the credit facility was amended to:

* permit certain additional capital expenditures, subject to the other provisions of the credit facility, in
2006 and 2007 in connection the expansion of press felt production capacity in Brazil;
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» provide that such additional capital expenditures do not reduce “pre-dividend free cash flow” (as such
term is defined in the credit facility and below);

* increase the applicable margin for US Dollar LIBOR term loans from 2.00% to 2.25%;

* change the minimum interest coverage ratio for the fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2006, September 30,
2006 and March 31, 2007; and

+ change the maximum leverage ratio for the fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2006 through December 31,
2007.

We paid an amendment fee of $0.8 million in connection with this amendment. The description below
describes the credit facility, as amended.

The credit facility, as amended, is secured by substantially all of our assets and the assets of most of our
subsidiaries that were guarantors under the previously existing credit facility in all cases subject to legal and tax
considerations and requirements. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility and term loan facility bear
interest, at our option, at either (a) LIBOR plus the applicable margin or (b) the Euribor rate plus the applicable
margin, in each case in addition to certain other mandatory costs associated with syndication in the European
markets. The applicable margin for LIBOR term loans, LIBOR revolving loans, Euribor loans and CDOR loans
is 2.25%, provided that the applicable margin with respect to revolving loans may be reduced to 2.00% or 1.75%
based on a leverage test set forth in the credit agreement. Following the initial public offering we entered into
interest rate swap agreements that effectively fixed the interest rate on approximately 85% of the term loan credit
facility for three years. Assuming the amendment described above was effective as of December 31, 2005, the
weighted average interest rate on the effectively fixed portion of the term loan facility would have been 5.67%.
The revolving credit facility has a 6.5 year maturity and the term loan facility has a 7 year maturity from the date
of the agreement.

The credit facility provides for scheduled principal payments on the term loan of $6.5 million each year,
payable in quarterly installments that began September 30, 2005, with the remaining $597.4 million due at
maturity in May 2012. The credit facility will also require us to prepay outstanding loans under the term loan
facility under the following circumstances:

*  with 100% of the net cash proceeds received by us from any sale, transfer or other disposition of any
assets, subject to certain customary reinvestment rights and with an exemption for sales of up to
$100,000 for any transaction or series of related transactions, exemption of the first $10,000,000 of
cumulative net proceeds and exemption of up to an additional $10,000,000 of net proceeds from the sale
of four identified manufacturing facilities;

» with 100% of the net cash proceeds received by us from any insurance recovery or condemnation
events, subject to certain exceptions and reinvestment rights and with an exemption for the first
$2,000,000 of cumulative net insurance or condemnation proceeds;

*  with 100% of the net cash proceeds from the incurrence of any indebtedness by us, subject to customary
exceptions; and

*  with 50% of the amount equal to our pre-dividend free cash flow (as defined in our credit facility and
described below) minus our actual dividend payments, except that in the event our dividend payments
exceed 65% of our pre-dividend free cash flow, we will be required to make prepayments in the amount
of 75% of the amount equal to our pre-dividend free cash flow minus our actual dividend payments.
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Our credit facility requires that we meet certain financial covenants in order to avoid a default or event of
default under the facility. These covenants are as follows:

»  Our interest coverage ratio as of the end of any period set forth below must exceed the ratio set forth for

such period:
Period Ratio
Fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2005 through September 30,2006 ................. 3.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2006 and March 31,2007 ........................ 4.00:1
Fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2007 through December 31,2007 .......... ... ... ..... 4.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2008 through December 31,2008 . ............... ... .. 4.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2009 through December 31,2009 .. ................... 4.75:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2010 through December 31,2010 .. ................... 5.00:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2011 and thereafter .................... ... ... ... 5.25:1
*  Our leverage ratio as of the end of any period set forth below must not exceed the ratio set forth for such
period:
@o_d Ratio
Fiscal quarter ending December 31,2005 ... ... ... . ... . 4.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2006 through December 31,2006 . ........... ... ... .. 4.75:1
Fiscal quarter ending March 31,2007 ........ .. ... . . . .. . 4.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2007 through December 31,2007 ...................... 4.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2008 and June 30,2008 .. ...... ... ... ... ... ... ..., 3.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2008 and December 31,2008 . .................... 3.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2009 through December 31,2009 ..................... 3.00:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2010 and June 30,2010 ........ ... ... ... ... .. ...... 2.75:1
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2010 and December 31,2010 . .................... 2.50:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2011 and June 30,2011 .. ....... ... ... ... ... .. .... 2.25:1
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2011 and thereafter . ............ ... ... ... ....... 2.00:1

*  QOur fixed charge coverage ratio as of the end of any period set forth below must exceed the ratio set
forth for such period:

Period Ratio
Fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2005 through December 31,2006 ................. 1.75:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2007 through December 31,2007 ............ ... ... .. 1.85:1
Fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2008 and thereafter .......... ... ... ... ... ... .. ..... 1.90:1

For the four fiscal quarters ended December 31, 2005 our interest coverage ratio was 4.27:1, our leverage
ratio was 4.24:1, and our fixed charge coverage ratio was 2.69:1. There can be no assurance that we will continue
to be in compliance with such financial ratios. In order to be in compliance with such financial ratios in respect
of the four fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2006, we will need to generate Adjusted EBITDA during such
period that is nearly equal to the amount of Adjusted EBITDA we generated in 2005. Because the financial ratios
become more restrictive over time, our financial performance will need to improve after 2006 in order for us to
remain in compliance with the financial ratios in subsequent periods. Our ability to comply with the financial
ratios may be affected by events beyond our control, such as prevailing economic, financial and industry
conditions, including unfavorable foreign currency movements relative to the US Dollar.

Our credit facility limits the amount of our capital expenditures in any given fiscal year to an amount less
than $44 million for each fiscal year from 2005 through 2009 and $50 million for fiscal year 2010 and fiscal year
2011, in each such case exclusive of excess cash amounts permitted to be spent on capital expenditures; provided
that in addition to these maximum amounts, subject to the other provisions of the credit facility, we are permitted
to make additional capital expenditures solely to expand press felt production capacity in Brazil in 2006 in the
aggregate amount of up to $8.4 million and in 2007 in the aggregate amount of up to $8.2 million.
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Our ability to comply in future periods with the financial covenants in our credit facility will depend on our
ongoing financial and operating performance, which in turn will be subject to general economic conditions and to
financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control (including currency exchange rates),
and will be substantially dependent on the level of demand for our products, our ability to compete effectively
and our ability to otherwise successfully implement our overall business strategies, including our ability to
realize the benefits of our cost reduction programs.

Our credit facility also restricts our ability to declare and pay dividends on our common stock as follows:

» we will be permitted to pay dividends in an amount not to exceed $10 million in the aggregate per fiscal
quarter until December 31, 2006, subject to there being no default or event of default under our credit
facility as described below;

+ beginning on December 31, 2006, we may pay dividends on each quarterly dividend payment date up to
an amount that, when added to the amount of dividends paid on the three most recent prior quarterly
dividend payment dates, does not exceed 75% of our pre-dividend free cash flow (as defined in our new
credit facility) for the four fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to such dividend payment date. “Pre-
dividend free cash flow” is defined in our credit facility as Adjusted EBITDA minus the sum of (i) net
interest expense paid in cash, (ii) net cash taxes, (iii) cash capital expenditures (reduced by the amount
of any asset sale, insurance or condemnation proceeds which we are permitted to retain in our business,
any capital expenditures made with the proceeds of previously generated surplus cash and any capital
expenditures used to expand press felt production capacity in Brazil in 2006 (up to $8.4 million) and
2007 (up to $8.2 million)), (iv) all scheduled debt repayments, (v) cash restructuring expenses (up to
specified amounts per the credit facility) and (vi) cash payments of withholding taxes from proceeds of
the repurchase, redemption or retention of our common stock relating to equity incentive awards; and

* we may not pay dividends if a default or event of default under our new credit facility has occurred and
is continuing or would occur as a consequence of such payment.

Pre-dividend free cash flow (as defined in our credit facility) does not represent the amount we intend to
distribute as dividends for any period but rather is a restriction on the maximum level of dividend payments, if
any, that we will be permitted to declare and pay under the terms of our credit facility. See “—Dividend Policy”
above,

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table provides aggregated information about our contractual obligations as of December 31,
2005.

Payments Due by Period
Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5years 5 years
) (in millions})
Long-termdebt (1) ... ...t $639.6 $ 86  $128  $128  $6054
Operating leases . ... 15.6 3.3 4.7 3.4 4.2
Purchase obligations (2) .. ........... .. ... ... ... ... 324 26.6 4.1 1.7 -
Pension and other postretirement obligations ............. 85.8 6.7 144 16.1 48.6
Total contractual cash obligations ...................... $7734  $45.2 $36.0  $340  $658.2

(1) Consists of the principal amount outstanding and excludes the amount of interest payable on such long-term
debt as of December 31, 2005. The estimated interest payments on our long-term debt are described in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and
Capital Resources.”

(2) Includes obligations with respect to raw materials purchases, repair and maintenance services, utilities and
capital expenditures.
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Oft-Balance Sheet Financing

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we have not engaged in material off-balance sheet activities,
including the use of structured finance or specific purpose entities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principals
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. We have formal
accounting policies in place including those that address critical and complex accounting areas. Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report identify the significant accounting
policies used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The most significant areas involving
management judgments and estimates are described below.

Revenue Recognition. Our revenue primarily consists of the sale of paper machine clothing and roll covers.
Revenue is considered to be realized or realizable and earned when all of the following criteria are met:
persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement exists; delivery has occurred; the price is fixed or determinable; the
risk of loss and title has passed to the customers; and collectibility is reasonably assured. These criteria are
generally met at the time of shipment unless a consignment arrangement exists. Revenue from consignment
arrangements is recognized based on product usage indicating sales are complete or as conditions are met. We
allow our customers to return defective or damaged products for credit. Our estimate for sales returns is based
upon contractual commitments and historical trends and is recorded as a reduction to net sales.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained at a level considered
by management to be adequate to absorb an estimate of probable future losses existing at the balance sheet date.
In estimating probable losses, we review accounts that are past due, non-performing or in bankruptcy. We also
use general information regarding industry trends, the general economic environment and information gathered
through our network of field-based employees. We arrive at an estimated loss for specific accounts based on
historical trends. This process is based on estimates, and ultimate losses may differ from those estimates.
Uncollectible receivable balances are written off when we determine that the balance is uncollectible. Subsequent
recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance when received.

Inventories. We value our inventories for financial reporting purposes at the lower of cost or market value.
Raw materials costs are determined on a weighted average basis. In addition to the raw material component of
our work in process and finished goods, we specifically identify the cost of labor and overhead components
based on actual inputs to production. We record provisions, as appropriate, to write-down obsolete and excess
inventory to estimated net realizable value. The process for evaluating obsolete and excess inventory often
requires us to make subjective judgments and estimates concerning future sales levels, quantities and prices at
which such inventory will be able to be sold in the normal course of business. A significant decline in demand for
our products as compared to forecasted amounts may result in the recording of additional provisions for excess
inventory in the future.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment additions are recorded at cost. The property and
equipment we acquire in connection with acquisitions is recorded at fair market value as of the acquisition date.
We estimate useful lives of our property and equipment, and depreciate the cost on a straight line basis over these
estimated lives. Thus, the depreciation expense is based on estimates, and the ultimate useful lives may be
different from these estimates. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset Eﬁ
Buildings and improvements ... ... ... 3-50
Machinery and equipment —Heavy ....... .. ... ... 16-25
—General ... ... 13-15
—Laght . 6-12
—Molds, tools, office and computers ....................... 2-5
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We review our long-lived assets for impairment when indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than
the assets’ carrying amount in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. Our policy is to evaluate long-lived assets for
impairment at a plant level for each eperating unit. If actual market conditions are less favorable than
management’s projections, future write-offs may be necessary.

Goodwill. We account for acquired goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 141,
Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 1417). As a result, goodwill and other indefinite lived assets are not
amortized. Purchase accounting required by SFAS No. 141 involves judgment with respect to the valuation of the
acquired assets and liabilities in order to determine the final amount of goodwill. We believe that the estimates
that we have used to record prior acquisitions are reasonable and in accordance with SFAS No. 141.

Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. We account for acquired goodwill and
goodwill impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS
No. 142”). This pronouncement requires considerable judgment in the valuation of acquired goodwill and the
ongoing evaluation of goodwill impairment.

We perform an annual test for goodwill impairment as of December 31st at the business segment level. We
have two business segments: clothing and roll covers. For the purpose of performing the annual impairment test
we allocate all shared assets and liabilities to the business segments based upon the percentage of each segment’s
revenue to total revenue. Shared expenses are allocated to each segment to the extent necessary to allow them to
operate as independent businesses. To determine if impairment exists, the fair value of each business segment is
compared to its carrying value. Fair value was determined by using a weighted combination of both a market
multiple approach and an income approach. The market multiple approach utilizes market transactions,
ownership interests or securities traded in public companies (i.e. guideline companies) to determine measures
that are used to value the Company’s business segments. The income approach is a present value technique used
to measure the fair value of future cash flows produced by each business segment. The results of the test as of
December 2005 and 2004 indicated that there was no impairment of goodwill.

Contingencies. We are subject to various claims and contingencies associated with lawsuits, insurance, tax,
environmental and other issues arising out of the normal course of business. Our consolidated financial
statements reflect the treatment of claims and contingencies based on management’s view of the expected
outcome. We consult with legal counsel on those issues related to litigation with respect to matters in the
ordinary course of business. If the likelihood of an adverse outcome is probable and the amount is estimable, we
accrue a liability in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” While we believe that the
current level of reserves is adequate, the adequacy of these reserves may change in the future due to new
developments in particular matters.

Income Taxes. We utilize the asset and liability method for accounting for income taxes in accordance with
SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences
are expected to reverse.

We have recognized a net deferred tax liability of $27.4 million and $37.5 million at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively. The deferred taxes relate principally to pension and post-retirement benefits and
differences between the book and tax basis of property and equipment.

We reduce our deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based upon the weight of available evidence,
it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Relevant
evidence, both positive and negative, is considered in determining the need for a valuation allowance.
Information evaluated includes our financial position and results of operations for the current and preceding
years as well as an evaluation of currently available information about future years. In light of our accumulated
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loss position in certain tax jurisdictions at December 31, 2005, and the uncertainty of profitability in future
periods, we recorded valuation allowances for deferred tax assets primarily related to net operating loss
carryforwards in the United States, United Kingdom, and Sweden.

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $201 million and
$156 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Those earnings are considered to be indefinitely
reinvested and, accordingly, no provision for US income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon distribution of
those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, we would be subject to both US income taxes (subject to an
adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign jurisdictions.
Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred US income tax liability is not practicable because of the
complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax credit carryforwards
and net operating loss carryforwards would be available to reduce some portion of the liability.

In addition, we operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions and could be subject to audit in these
jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex issues and rely on estimates and assumptions. These audits may
require an extended period of time to resolve and may cover multiple years. Although the Company believes that
the estimates and assumptions are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation
could be different than that which is reflected in historical income tax provisions and recorded assets and
liabilities. Due to the complexity involved, the Company is not able to estimate the range of reasonably possible
losses in excess of amounts recorded.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities. We have entered into several different types of derivative instruments.
Certain of these instruments are treated as hedges under SFAS No. 133 and include interest rate swaps and caps
that qualify as cash flow hedges and foreign currency forward contracts that qualify as either cash flow or fair
value hedges. We enter into derivative financial arrangements to hedge a variety of risk exposures, including
interest rate risks associated with long-term debt. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, we record the fair value of
these instruments within the consolidated balance sheet. Gains and losses from derivative financial instruments
are largely offset by gains and losses on the underlying transactions. While we intend to continue to meet the
conditions for hedge accounting, if hedges were not to be highly effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to
the hedged risk, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges could have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

Estimates Used Related to Restructuring. We have engaged in a number of restructuring activities over the
last several years and we account for such restructuring activities in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting
for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities (“SFAS No. 146”). SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability
for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Our
restructuring activities require our management to utilize significant estimates related to realizable values of
assets that were made redundant or obsolete and expenses for severance and other employee separation costs,
lease cancellation and other exit costs. This process is complex and involves periodic reassessments of estimates
made at the time the original decisions were made. We continue to evaluate the adequacy of the remaining
liabilities under these restructuring initiatives. As we continue to evaluate the business, there may be changes in
estimates to amounts previously recorded as actions progress and are completed.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits. The determination of the obligation and expense for pension
and other post-retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain actuarial assumptions used in
calculating such amounts. These assumptions include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets and rates of increase in compensation and health care costs. These assumptions are reviewed
and updated annually based on relevant external and internal factors and information.

Stock Based Compensation. As permitted under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
(SFAS No. 123”), as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure, we have elected to follow the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, to account for stock-based awards to employees (“APB No. 257).
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Under APB No. 25, compensation expense with respect to such awards is not recognized, if the price of the
shares underlying the awards was greater than the market closing price of our common shares on the date of
grant,.

SFAS No. 123 requires the measurement of the fair value of the employee stock-based awards to be
included in the consolidated statements of operations or disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. We have determined that we will account for stock-based compensation granted to employees under
APB No. 25, and will elect the disclosure-only alternative under SFAS No. 123. In determining the pro forma
compensation expense for awards that are performance-based, we use the Monte Carlo pricing model which
requires the use of judgment in the selection of the inputs to the model.

New Accounting Standards

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory
Costs—an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. This statement clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts
of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage, requiring these items be recognized as current-
period charges. In addition, this statement requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of
conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this statement are
effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of this
accounting principle is not expected to have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004) (“SFAS
No. 123R”). This statement addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which a company
receives employee services in exchange for the company’s equity instruments or liabilities that are based on the
fair value of the Company’s equity securities or may be settled by the issuance of these securities. SFAS
No. 123R discontinues the accounting for share-based compensation using APB No. 25 and generally requires
that such transactions be accounted for using a fair value method. In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange
Commission issued a release, which amends the compliance dates for SFAS No. 123R. We will now be required
to adopt the new accounting provisions beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. Until we adopt SFAS
No. 123R, we will continue to account for our stock compensation in accordance with APB No. 25 as described
in Note 14. The full impact that the adoption of this statement will have on the Company’s financial position and
resuits of operations will be determined based upon the share-based payments granted under the Company’s 2005
Equity Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan), which was adopted on May 19, 2005.

Following the provisions of APB No. 25 as allowed under SFAS No. 123 did not have a significant impact
on our financial position or results of operations with respect to stock options and restricted stock that were
outstanding prior to the completion of our initial public offering on May 19, 2005. Both the stock options and
restricted stock vested upon the completion of the initial public offering and we measured and recorded
compensation expense at that time based on the then current fair value of the options and restricted stock.
Because vesting of the stock options and restricted stock did not occur until the completion of our offering, there
was no difference in compensation expense charged to the consolidated statements of operations under the two
methods; thus the pro forma net loss under SFAS No. 123 and the reported net loss were identical.

Non-GAAP Liquidity Measures

We use EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as supplementary non-GAAP liquidity measures to assist us in
evaluating our liquidity and financial performance, specifically our ability to service indebtedness and to fund
ongoing capital expenditures and dividends. Our credit facility includes covenants based on Adjusted EBITDA.
If our Adjusted EBITDA declines below certain levels, we will violate covenants resulting in a default condition
under the credit facility or be required to prepay the credit facility or we will be prohibited from paying
dividends. Neither EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA should be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net cash
provided by operating activities (as determined in accordance with GAAP) or income (loss) from operations (as
determined in accordance with GAAP).
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EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) before interest expense, income tax provision (benefit) and
depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is defined in our credit facility and is EBITDA plus
(i) expenses or losses incurred on or prior to the completion of our initial public offering in connection with
proposed or completed debt or equity financing transactions, including expenses or losses related to the early
retirement or extinguishment of debt and any bonuses paid in connection with such financing transactions,
(i1) unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss on indebtedness, net, (iii) restructuring or related impairment
expenses (not to exceed $11 million in 2005, $4 million in 2006, $3.5 million in 2007 and $1.5 million in each
year thereafter), (iv) reserves for inventory in connection with plant closings, (v) stock-based and other non-cash
compensation charges, charges from forgiveness of loans made to employees in connection with the purchase of
equity and any tax gross-up payments made in respect of such loan forgiveness in connection with or prior to the
completion of our initial public offering, (vi) certain transaction costs, including costs incurred in connection
with our initial public offering and the related debt financing and the legal reorganization of Brazilian
subsidiaries, (vii) costs associated with payments to management prior to the completion of our initial public
offering in connection with the termination of incentive plans, (viii) non-cash charges resulting from the
application of purchase accounting, (ix) any fees, expenses or charges deducted in computing net income (loss)
which have been determined by management, which determination is reasonably acceptable to the administrative
agent under our credit facility, to be non-recurring by virtue of changes in our method of operations pursuant to
our cost reduction programs, (x) non-cash losses (net of non-cash gains) resulting from marking-to-market
hedging obligations, (xi) non-cash expenses resulting from the granting of stock options, restricted stock or
restricted stock unit awards under equity compensation programs solely with respect to our common stock and
(xii) expenses not exceeding $5 million per year incurred as a result of the repurchase, redemption or retention of
our own common stock earned under equity compensation programs solely in order to make withholding tax
payments. Adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the credit facility and calculated below, may not be comparable to
similarly titled measurements used by other companies. The following table provides a reconciliation from net
cash provided by operating activities, which is the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, to
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities .................. $ 54,709 $ 78,701  $106,405
Interest expense, Nt . . ...ttt 49,817 67,235 63,290
Net change in operating assets and liabilities ............... 7,938 (10,972) (6,644)
Income tax Provision ...............oeriraininienanan. 13,917 26,641 40,423
Stock-based compensation .. .......... ... L (17,352) (279) —
Deferred financing cost amortization . ..................... (3,037) (984) (1,032)
Deferred taxes ... 1,981 (4,785) (25,905)
Deferred Interest . . ...ttt e (813) (12,163) (11,314)
ASSELIMPAITMENt .. ..ottt (175) (10,331) (4,769)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) on indebtedness, net . . 3,952 (5,606) (11,881)
Loss on early extinguishmentof debt .. ................... (4,886) — 673)
Gain on disposition of property and equipment . ............. 952 — —
EBITDA ... .. . 107,003 127,457 147,900
Expenses related to debt or equity financing ................ 7,820 7,429 2,493
Loss on early extinguishment of debt ..................... 4,886 — 673
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) on indebtedness, net . . (3,952) 5,606 11,881
Restructuring expenses (A) ......... ..o, 11,000 21,351 10,971
Non-cash compensation and related expenses ............... 17,352 4,374 —
Expenses related to reorganization of Brazilian subsidiaries . . . . 4,144 925 —
Non-recurring expenses resulting from cost

reduction programs (B) .......... .. ... il 7,283 — —
Adjusted EBITDA . .......... ... ... ... ... .. .. ...... $155,536 $167,142  $173,918

(A) Restructuring expenses that can be added back to determine Adjusted EBITDA are capped at $11,000 for
2005.
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(B) In accordance with the definition of Adjusted EBITDA in our credit facility, certain fees, expenses and
charges deducted in computing net income determined by us to be non-recurring, which determination was
accepted by the administrative agent under the facility, by virtue of changes in our method of operations
pursuant to our cost reduction programs have been added back to Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended
December 31, 2005. These fees, expenses and charges include (1) $850 of environmental charges in
connection with facility closures pursuant to cost reduction programs and (2) $6,433 related to certain
operating costs incurred in connection with the transition of production operations from a closed facility to
another facility.

Comparable fees, expenses and charges to those in the table above were not added back to Adjusted
EBITDA for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2004. The twelve months ended December 31, 2004
would have been $172,392 after adding back $5,250 of such fees, expenses and charges (consisting of $3,750 of
environmental charges in connection with facility closure pursuant to cost reduction programs and $1,500 of
operating costs incurred in connection with the transition of production operations from a closed facility to
another facility). There are no such comparable fees, expenses or charges for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Hedging. We have foreign currency cash flow and earnings exposure with respect to
specific sale transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the unit incurring the
costs associated with such transactions. To mitigate the risks related to this exposure, we utilize forward currency
contracts in certain circumstances, to lock in exchange rates with the objective that the gain or loss on the
forward contracts will approximate the loss or gain on the transaction or transactions being hedged. We
determine whether to enter into hedging arrangements based upon the size of the underlying transaction or
transactions, an assessment of the risk of adverse movements in the applicable currencies and the availability of a
cost-effective hedging strategy. In South America, substantially all of our sales are indexed to US Dollars, but the
associated costs are recorded in the local currencies of the operating units. Generally, we do not hedge this US
Dollar exposure as it would not be cost effective due to the relatively inefficient foreign exchange markets for
local currencies in that region. To the extent we do not engage in hedging or such hedging is not effective,
changes in the relative value of currencies can affect our profitability.

As of December 31, 2005, we had open foreign currency exchange contracts maturing through December
2006 with total net notional amounts of approximately $20 million. At December 31, 2005, we prepared an
analysis to determine the sensitivity of our forward foreign exchange contracts to changes in exchange rates. A
hypothetical adverse exchange rate movement of 10% against our forward foreign exchange contracts would
have resulted in a potential net loss in fair value of these contracts of approximately $2.0 million. All such losses
on these forward foreign exchange contracts would be substantially offset by gains on the underlying transactions
that we had hedged.

In connection with our previous senior and mezzanine debt, we had non-hedged currency exposure during
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, on certain indebtedness related to (i) indebtedness
denominated in Euros at our U.S. subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the US dollar, and (ii) indebtedness
denominated in U.S. dollars at our foreign subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the Euro. The Company no
longer has this exposure as this debt was paid off at the time of our initial public offering on May 19, 2005.

For additional information about the risks associated with fluctuations in currency exchange rates, see
“—Foreign Exchange.”

Interest Rate Hedging. Our senior credit facility has a variable interest rate. We entered into interest rate
swap contracts effective June 30, 2005 pursuant to which we pay fixed rates on US Dollar notional amounts
while receiving the applicable floating LIBOR rates. The interest rate swap contracts effectively fix the interest
rate on 85% of the term loan portion of the credit facility for three years. As of December 31, 2005, the weighted
average interest rate on the effectively fixed portion of the term loan facility was 5.53%; the weighted average
interest rate on the portion of the term loan facility not effectively fixed by interest rate swap contracts, based on
the 90-day LIBOR, was 5.83%. On February 8, 2006, we amended our credit facility agreement and increased the
margin of our US Dollar LIBOR term loans from 2.00% to 2.25% which changed the weighted average on the
effectively fixed portion of the term loan facility to 5.67%. We estimate that a 1% change in the LIBOR rate
would increase our interest expense on the term debt by approximately $1 million on an annual basis during the
three years during which we expect will be covered by the interest rate swap agreements.

We also had interest rate swaps during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 in connection with our
previous senior and mezzanine debt, pursuant to which we paid fixed rates on Eurodollar, US Dollar and
Canadian Dollar notional amounts while receiving the applicable floating LIBOR rates from the counter-parties
on our previously existing debt. In addition to these interest rate swaps, interest on the US Dollar-denominated
portion of the mezzanine debt had a fixed rate. We used the proceeds from our initial public offering, together
with borrowings under the new credit facility, to repay all outstanding borrowings under our previously existing
senior and mezzanine credit facilities and our interest rate swap contracts.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

All financial statements required to be filed under this Item 8, other than selected quarterly financial data,
are filed as Appendix A hereto, are listed under Item 15(a) and are incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)),
as of December 31, 2005. Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer
concluded that, as of December 31, 2003, our disclosure controls and procedures were (1) designed to ensure that
material information relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report was being prepared and (2) effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information required
to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted by us under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements. The following documents are filed as Appendix A hereto and are included as
part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Financial Statements of Xerium Technologies, Inc:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. The following financial statement schedule is included as part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Schedule 1I, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Certain schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or not required, or because the required
information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index
immediately preceding such exhibits, and are incorporated herein by this reference. We have identified with plus
symbols in the Exhibit Index each management contract and compensation plan filed as an exhibit to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in
Youngsville, North Carolina, on March 1, 2006.

XERIUM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/  THOMAS GUTIERREZ

Thomas Gutierrez
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been
signed below by the following persons in the capacities on March 1, 2006.

Signature Title
/s/  THOMAS GUTIERREZ President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Thomas Gutierrez (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  MICHAEL O’ DONNELL Chief Financial Officer and Director
Michael O’Donnell (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/  DONALD P. AIKEN Director

Donald P. Aiken

/s/  MICHAEL PHILLIPS Director
Michael Phillips
/s/  JOHN S. THOMPSON Director

John S. Thompson

/s/  EDWARD PAQUETTE Director
Edward Paquette
/s/  JOHN SAUNDERS Director

John Saunders
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Xerium Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Xerium Technologies, Inc. as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an
audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test bastis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Xerium Technologies, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 15, 2006

F-2




XERIUM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2005 2004
(dollars in thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents ......... ... .. .. .. i $ 59976 § 24,002
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,277 in 2005 and
$2,034 10 2004) .. 102,568 113,283
INVENIOIIES .« . oottt e 96,713 110,931
Prepaid expenses ....... ... 5,507 4,131
Other CUITENE ASSEIS . . oot i ittt et et e et 14,387 9,717
Total CUITENt ASSELS . . . o o ittt e e e e e e 279,151 262,064
Property and equipment, net . . . ... ... 362,118 393,621
GoodwWill . ... 298,495 320,297
Intangible assets and deferred financing costs,net . ............ .. .. ... ........ 38,356 30,804
101 1= =TT £ 6,741 13,079
TOtal @SSELS . . o vttt $984,861 $1,019,865
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:

Notes payable ... ... $ 9523 $ 11,014

Accounts payable ... ... 37,940 39,217

AcCrued EXPENSES . .\ vt 55,770 72,720

Current maturities of long-termdebt ......... .. ... ... .. .. .. ... ... 8,582 45,703
Total current Habilities .. ..o o e 111,815 168,654
Long-term debt, net of current maturities . ...........co.iirniinrn e 631,027 771,132
Deferred taxes . ..o e 37,369 42,050
Pension, other postretirement and postemployment obligations .................... 94,854 92,514
Other Habilities . . . ... .. o e 450 611
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13) . ... .. — —
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; no shares outstanding

as of December 31,2005 and 2004 .. ....... ...t — —
Common stock, $.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized; 43,725,093 and

31,013,482 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,

TESPECHVELY . o e e 437 310
Paid-in capital . .. ... . 199,285 6,548
Accumulated deficit . ... .. .. e (64,567) (46,891)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . ... ... .. i (25,809) (15,063)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) ....... ... .. ... i 109,346 (55,096)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) . ...................... $984,861 $1,019,865

See accompanying notes.
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XERIUM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Netsales ..............c. ...

Costs and expenses:
Cost of productssold . .............
Selling .......... ... ... .
General and administrative .........
Restructuring ............. ... ...
Research and development .........
Offeringcosts ...................

Income from operations ...............
Interestexpense .............ovvuvnnn..
Interestincome ......................

Foreign exchange gain (loss) . ...........
Loss on early extinguishment of debt .. ...

Income before provision for income taxes .
Provision for income taxes .............

Netloss ...

Net loss per share:
Basic ....... .. .. il

Diluted ............. ... ... .. ....

Shares used in computing net loss per share:
Basic ........ ... il

Diluted ................ ... . ....

Cash dividends per common share .......

See accompanying notes.
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Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(dollars in thousands except
per share data)
$ 3582420 S 582,480 $ 560,668
337,932 326,760 301,682
70,084 68,504 67,074
90,130 66,986 65,220
11,958 19,533 10,971
9,563 8,819 7,093
— 7,429 —
519,667 498,031 452,040
62,753 84,449 108,628
(51,759) (67,805) (64,001)
1,942 570 711
3,773 (4,669) (8,050)
(4,886) — (673)
11,823 12,545 36,615
13,917 26,641 40,423
$ (2,094) $ (14,096) $ (3,808)
$ (.05) $ (0.45) $ 0.12)
$ (05 $ (0.45) $ (0.12)
38,884,233 31,013,482 31,013,482
38,884,233 31,013,482 31,013,482
$ 033 §$ — 3 —
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XERIUM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31

2005

2004

2003

(dollars in thousands)

Operating activities

Nt 0SS . ot $ (2,094) $(14,096) $ (3,808)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating
activities: :
Stock-based compensation . ...............i i 17,352 279 —
Depreciation . . .....couit i 41,190 43,505 43,883
Amortization of other intangibles ........ e 4,173 4,172 4112
Deferred financing cost amortization .. ..............covvinen. .. 3,037 984 1,032
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss on revaluation of debt .. ... .. (3,952) 5,606 11,881
Deferred taXes ..ot e (1,981) 4,785 25,905
Deferred interest . ... ..ot 813 12,163 11,314
ASSEt IMPAITMEIL . . oottt et e et et e 175 10,331 4,769
Loss on early extinguishmentof debt . ........ ... ... ... ... .... 4,886 — 673
Gain on disposition of property and equipment . ................... (952) — —
Change in assets and liabilities which provided (used) cash:
Accountsreceivable ... ... .. e 4,336 (1,121 6,682
Inventories . ......... . 8,060 8,449 2,474
Prepaid eXpenses ........ ... e (1,816) (263) 439
Other CLITENt @SSELS . . .ot e et i e e (8,444) 312 3,809
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . .......... ... ... (10,850) 1,683 (7,663)
Deferred and other long term liabilities . .................. ... (710) 604 2,112
Other........coviiii ... e 1,486 1,308 (1,209)
Net cash provided by operating activities .. .... R 54,709 78,701 106,405
Investing activities
Capital expenditures, Gross . ... ..ottt (35,829) (36,593  (43,817)
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment .................... 7,103 952 4,336
O T . . e 4 (920) 423
Net cash used in investing activities .............. ... cvieuiruan . (28,722) (36,561)  (39,058)
Financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less) .... .. 147y (1,547 1,836
Proceeds from borrowings (maturities longer than 90 days) .............. 650,000 — 134,260
Principal paymentsondebt . ...... .. .. .. .. (749,098) (37,539) (199,252)
Issuance of commonstock ... .. . . 160,791 — —
Redemption of commonstock ....... ... . ... ... .. (4,551) — —
Cash dividends on common stock .. ...... .. ..o, (14,429) — —
Costs related to public offering and refinancing . ...................... (35,787) (4,589) (13,875)
OBheT . o e (1,153) 550 (5,625)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ... .................. 5,626 (43,125  (82,656)
Effect of exchange rate changes oncashflows ................ PR 4,361 2,693 4,769
Net increase (decrease) incash .............co it nen.. 35,974 1,708 (10,540)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year........................ 24,002 22,294 32,834
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . . ......... ..., $ 59976 $24,002 $ 22,294
TLETESt PAYITIENES . . . .\ v\ vttt ettt $ 49437 $52,696 $ 53,692
INCome tax PAYMENLS . .. ..o\t v ittt e ettt e e et $ 18,860 $ 21,583 22,231

See accompanying notes.
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XERIUM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands except per share data)

December 31, 2005

1. Company History

Xerium Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”), is a leading global manufacturer and supplier of two types of
consumable products used primarily in the production of paper - clothing and roll covers. Operations are
strategically located in the major paper-making regions of the world, including the United States (US), Canada,
the United Kingdom, Continental Europe, Asia-Pacific and South America. The Company was reorganized in
connection with its initial public offering, which was completed on May 19, 2005 (Note 2).

2. Initial Public Offering and Reorganization

The Company completed its initial public offering, with a related debt refinancing, and a reorganization on
May 19, 2005.

Prior to the offering, Xerium Technologies, Inc. was an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Xerium S.A.;
subsequent to the offering the Company directly or indirectly holds all of the operating subsidiaries and related
holding companies of the former corporate group of Xerium S.A., excluding the former parent, Xerium S.A ., and
two holding company subsidiaries of Xerium S.A., Xerium 2 S.A. and Xerium 3 S.A. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements for all periods presented reflect only those operations of the Company after the
effect of this reorganization.

Prior to the offering, the Company had outstanding one share of $.01 par value common stock that was held
by Xerium 3 S.A. In connection with the offering, the Company effected a 31,013,482-for-1 stock split of this
common stock and, accordingly, all share and per share amounts related to common stock included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been presented as if this stock split had
occurred as of the earliest period presented.

In connection with the offering, Xerium Technologies, Inc. issued 13,399,233 shares of common stock at a
public offering price of $12 per share and entered into a $750,000 credit facility agreement, under which a
$650,000 term loan with a 7 year maturity was borrowed. In connection with the offering, the Company repaid
$752,500 of principal and interest on senior bank debt, mezzanine bank debt and certain non-interest bearing
shareholder notes, as well as $1,354 of contractual payments under various rate swap agreements which were
used to hedge the floating rate senior and mezzanine debt. The Company wrote off $4,886 of deferred financing
costs related to the repayment of this debt as of May 19, 2005, which has been classified as loss on early
extinguishment of debt in the accompanying statements of operations. See Notes 7 and 8 for additional disclosure
related to the issuance of debt. On February 8, 2006 the Company amended its credit facility agreement with its
lenders (see Note 17).

Costs related to the reorganization, debt recapitalization and the offering that occurred on May 19, 2005
include the following:

*  $41,396 of fees and expenses including (i) $10,049 to underwriters (charged against paid-in capital),
(ii) $13,125 to arrangers and lenders (capitalized as deferred financing costs) and (iii) $18,222 of other
fees and expenses (including $9,997 related to the offering and charged against paid-in capital; $6,871
related 1o the debt recapitalization and capitalized as deferred financing costs and $1,354 charged to
interest expense related to contractual payments under various rate swap agreements which were used to
hedge the floating rate of previously existing senior and mezzanine debt);
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XERIUM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(dollars in thousands except per share data)

December 31, 2005

»  $15,507 of non-cash compensation expense related to the vesting of stock options and restricted stock in
connection with the offering charged to general and administrative expense;

*  $2,710 in compensation expense for the portion of cash transaction bonuses that were paid to members
of the Company’s management team in connection with the offering charged to general and
administrative expense.

In addition, Xerium Technologies, Inc. distributed $7,359 to Xerium 3 S.A. to reimburse Xe